
 

 

 
 
Notice of Meeting of 
 
REGULATORY SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
Monday, 17 April 2023 at 10.00 am 
 
Council Chamber, Council Offices, Brympton 
Way, Yeovil BA20 2HT 
 
To: The members of the Licensing and Regulatory Sub-Committee 
 
Councillor Leigh Redman Councillor Tony Lock Councillor Connor Payne 
 

 
For further information about the meeting, including how to join the meeting virtually, 
please contact Democratic Services democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk  
 
This meeting will be open to the public and press, subject to the passing of any 
resolution under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A: Access to Information.  
 
 
 
Issued by Scott Wooldridge, (the Proper Officer) on Wednesday, 5 April 2023 
 

 

Public Agenda Pack

Page 1



 

 

GUIDANCE FOR PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
Recording of Meetings 
 
The Council in support of the principles of openness and transparency allows filming, 
recording and taking photographs at its meetings that are open to the public providing it is 
done in a non-disruptive manner. No filming or recording will take place when the press and 
public are excluded for that part of the meeting. As a matter of courtesy to the public, anyone 
wishing to film or record proceedings is asked to provide reasonable notice to the Democratic 
Services Team on 01823 357628 or democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk so that the 
Chair of the meeting can inform those present. 
 
 
QUESTIONS, STATEMENTS OR PETITIONS BY THE PUBLIC 
 
All members of the public are welcome to attend our meetings and ask questions or may make 
a statement or present a petition by giving advance notice in writing or by e-mail to the 
Monitoring Officer at email: democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk by 5.00pm on 14 April 
2023.  
 
The maximum time for each speaker is 3 minutes with a maximum time of 20 minutes for all 
speakers in total.  In exceptional circumstances the Chair has discretion at meetings to accept 
questions, statements or petitions without any prior notice.      
 
Questions, statements or petitions must: - 
(a) relate to a matter for which the Council has a responsibility, or which affects the County, 
(b) not be defamatory, frivolous or offensive, 
(c) not be substantially the same as a question/statement/petition which has been put at a 

meeting of the Council in the past six months and 
(d) not require the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 
 
Your safety at public meetings is very important to us and space at this venue may be limited.  
We therefore encourage the public to join us virtually.  Please contact Democratic Services 
democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk for the on-line link to the meeting. 
 
 
REPORTS 
 
Agendas, reports and minutes can be accessed via the council's website: 
www.somerset.gov.uk/agendasandpapers.  If you need to access any of the papers in an 
alternative format (e.g. large print, audio tape, Braille etc) or in community languages please 
contact the report author giving as much notice as possible.  It should be noted that re-
formatting or translation of committee reports before the date of a particular meeting cannot 

be guaranteed. 

Page 2

mailto:democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk
http://www.somerset.gov.uk/agendasandpapers


 

 

AGENDA 
 

Regulatory Sub-Committee - 10.00 am Monday, 17 April 2023 
  
Public Guidance Notes contained in Agenda Annexe  
 

5 - 6 

 
1   Apologies for Absence  

 
To receive any apologies for absence. 
  

2   Declarations of Interest (Pages 7 - 8) 
 
To receive and note any declarations of disclosable pecuniary or prejudicial or personal 
interests in respect of any matters included on the agenda for consideration at this meeting. 
(The personal interests of Councillors of Somerset Council, Town or Parish Councils and 
other Local Authorities will automatically be recorded in the minutes.) 
  

3   Procedure to be followed when considering Licensing of Hackney Carriage Private 
Hire Drivers, Vehicles, Operators and related enforcement (Pages 9 - 11) 
  

4   Application for a private hire vehicle licence (Pages 13 - 100) 
 
The Sub-Committee is asked to determine an application for a private hire vehicle licence. 
The vehicle proposed within the application does not conform with the requirements of the 
relevant legacy Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy, in so far as it is not 
compliant with the current European Emission Standard (EURO). 
 

Exclusion of Press and Public  
 

 

PLEASE NOTE: Although the main report for this item not confidential, supporting 
appendices available to Members contain exempt information and are therefore marked 
confidential – not for publication.  At any point if Members wish to discuss information 
within this appendix then the Council will be asked to agree the following resolution to 
exclude the press and public:  
 
Exclusion of the Press and Public 
To consider passing a resolution having been duly proposed and seconded under Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972 to exclude the press and public from the meeting, on 
the basis that if they were present during the business to be transacted there would be a 
likelihood of disclosure of exempt information, within the meaning of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972: 
 
Reason: Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). 
  

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Annex

mailto:democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk
http://www.somerset.gov.uk/agendasandpapers
mailto:democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk


 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

 

Page 6



 

SOMERSET COUNCIL 

UNITARY COUNCILLORS WHO ARE ALSO TOWN AND/OR 
PARISH COUNCILLORS 

UNITARY 
COUNCILLOR TOWN AND/OR PARISH COUNCIL 

Steve Ashton Crewkerne Town Council / Hinton St George Parish 
Council 

Suria Aujla Bridgwater Town Council 
Jason Baker Chard Town Council 

Lee Baker Cheddon Fitzpaine Parish Council / Taunton Shadow 
Town Council 

Marcus Barr Wellington Town Council 
Mike Best Crewkerne Town Council 
Alan Bradford North Petherton Town Council 
Theo Butt Philip Wells City Council 
Simon Carswell Street Parish Council 

Norman Cavill West Monkton Parish Council / Taunton Shadow Town 
Council 

Peter Clayton Burnham Highbridge Town Council 
Simon Coles Taunton Shadow Town Council 

Nick Cottle Glastonbury Town Council / St Edmunds Parish 
Council 

Adam Dance South Petherton Parish Council 
Dixie Darch Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Tom Deakin Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Caroline Ellis Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Habib Farbahi Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Ben Ferguson Axbridge Town Council 
Bob Filmer Brent Knoll Parish Council 
David Fothergill Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Andrew Govier Wellington Town Council 
Pauline Ham Axbridge Town Council 
Philip Ham Coleford Parish Council 
Ross Henley Wellington Town Council 
Edric Hobbs Shepton Mallet Town Council 

John Hunt Bishop’s Hull Parish Council / Taunton Shadow Town 
Council 

Dawn Johnson Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Val Keitch Ilminster Town Council 
Andy Kendall Yeovil Town Council 
Jenny Kenton Chard Town Council 
Tim Kerley Somerton Town Council 
Marcus Kravis Minehead Town Council 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



Tony Lock Yeovil Town Council 
Martin Lovell Shepton Mallet Town Council 
Mike Murphy Burnham Highbridge Town Council 
Graham Oakes Yeovil Town Council / Yeovil Without Parish Council 
Sue Osborne Ilminster Town Council 
Kathy Pearce Bridgwater Town Council 
Emily Pearlstone Ilchester Parish Council 
Derek Perry  Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Evie Potts-Jones Yeovil Town Council 
Hazel Prior-Sankey Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Wes Read Yeovil Town Council 
Leigh Redman Bridgwater Town Council 
Mike Rigby Bishop’s Lydeard and Cothelstone Parish Council 
Tony Robbins Wells City Council 
Dean Ruddle Somerton Town Council 

Peter Seib Brympton Parish Council / Chilthorne Domer Parish 
Council 

Heather Shearer Street Parish Council 
Gill Slocombe Bridgwater Town Council 
Brian Smedley Bridgwater Town Council 
Fran Smith Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Federica Smith-Roberts Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Jeny Snell Yeovil Town Council / Brympton Parish Council 
Andy Soughton Yeovil Town Council 
Richard Wilkins Curry Rivel Parish Council 
Dave Woan Yeovil Town Council 
Ros Wyke Westbury-sub-Mendip Parish Council 

 

Their memberships of Parish or Town Councils will be taken as being declared 
by these Councillors to be Personal Interests in the business of the Somerset 

Council meeting and need not be declared verbally.  

Any Unitary Councillor who has a Prejudicial Interest by virtue of their 
Membership of a Parish or Town Council, or who has a special involvement by 
virtue of being a Parish or Town Councillor, in a matter to be discussed by the 

Somerset Council will be expected to declare that prejudicial interest 
personally or bring to the attention of the Somerset Council meeting their 

special involvement. 

H CLARKE, Unitary Solicitor, April 2023 

Page 8



Procedure to be followed when considering Licensing of Hackney Carriage 
Private Hire Drivers, Vehicles, Operators and related enforcement  
 
 

1. The Chair will open the Hearing and introduce the Sub-Committee and Officers. They 
will then ask each Party to introduce themselves.  

2. The Chair will confirm that if a Party is not present their representation/application will 
be read and taken in to account in reaching the decision.  

3. The Chair will address any registerable interest arising under the Code of Conduct.  

 

4. The Chair will consider any submitted requests from a Party for permission for another 

person to appear at the Hearing. If necessary, the Sub-Committee will retire to 

deliberate before making a decision.  

 

5. The Chair will confirm that the Hearing will take the form of a round-the-table 

discussion led by the Sub-Committee in accordance with this procedure. If all Parties 

present confirm that they have seen and understood the procedure to be followed at 

the Hearing and agree that they are ready to proceed then the Hearing shall 

commence.  

6. The Chair will remind everyone that the purpose of the Hearing should be borne in 
mind at all times i.e.  

To enable those with a right to appear, to amplify their written application or 
representation. It is also to assist the Sub-Committee to gather evidence and 
understand the relevant issues.  

 
7. The Chair will confirm what advance papers have been received and that these have 

been read.  
 

8. The Chair will make clear that all Parties should only address the Sub-Committee in 
relation to matters they have raised in their application/representation. Any Party 
wishing to submit late evidence at the Hearing will only be able to do so with the 
consent of all Parties present and with the consent of the Sub-Committee.  

 
9. The Chair will confirm whether all Parties have seen and understood the procedure to 

be followed and are ready to proceed with the Hearing.  
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



10. The Chair will ask the Applicant whether they wish to make any amendments to their 
application with a view to addressing any issues raised by representations.  

 
11. Order of Oral Presentation  

 
(a) The Licensing Officer will present their report outlining the details of the 

application/notice/representations received.  

(b) Any Party may question the Licensing Officer.  

(c) The Members may question the Licensing Officer.  

(d) Responsible Authorities will present their case and call any witnesses.  

(e) Any Party may question the Responsible Authorities and any witnesses.  

(f) Members may question the Responsible Authorities and any witnesses.  

(g) Other Person(s) will present their case in turn and call any witnesses.  

(h) Any Party may question the Other Person(s).  

(i) Members may question the Other Person(s).  

(j) The Applicant/Licence Holder will present their case and call any witnesses.  

(k) Any Party may question the Applicant/Licence Holder and any witnesses.  

(l) Members may question the Applicant/Licence Holder and any witnesses.  

 
The Chair at their discretion, may change the order of oral presentation at any stage, if 
it is considered to be beneficial to the flow of the hearing.  

 
12. Before moving on to the next Party, the Chair will check there are no further points the 

current Party wishes to make or any further questions that need to be put to that Party.  
 

13. The Licensing Officer may present any further information such as proposed non-
mandatory Conditions deriving from the Operating Schedule or suggested by any 
Party. However, it will remain for the Sub-Committee to determine what conditions will 
apply, if any, should the application be successful.  

 
14. Each Party will be invited to make closing submissions in the following order –  

a. Responsible Authorities  

b. Other Persons  

c. The Applicant  

d. Licensing Officer  

Page 10



 
15. The Chair will then close the Hearing and the Sub-Committee will retire to determine 

the matter. The Legal Advisor will retire with the Sub-Committee to answer any points 
of law.  

 
16. The Sub-Committee will come to a decision which will be sent to the Applicant and all 

other relevant Parties together with the details of the right to appeal.  
 
NOTE:  
In producing this procedure the following has been considered: -  
The relevant legislation and statutory guidance together with local policies and procedures. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Decision Report – Regulatory Decision 
 

 
 

 

Application for a private hire vehicle licence 
 
Executive Member(s): Cllr Federica Smith-Roberts 
Local Member(s) and Division: N/A 
Lead Officer: John Rendell, Licensing Manager 
Author: Rachel Lloyd, Specialist – Licensing, and John Rendell 
Contact Details: rachel.lloyd@somerset.gov.uk, john.rendell@somerset.gov.uk  
 
 
Summary  
 
1. The Sub-Committee is asked to determine an application for a private hire 

vehicle licence.  
 
2. The vehicle proposed within the application does not conform with the 

requirements of the relevant legacy Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy, in so far as it is not compliant with the current European Emission 
Standard (EURO). 

 

Recommendations 
  
3.  The Licensing Sub-Committee must resolve to do one of the following: 
 

a. Grant a private hire vehicle licence. 

b. Refuse to grant a private hire vehicle licence. 

4.  The Licensing Manager and Specialist for Licensing recommend the application 
be refused, for reasons explained within this report. 

 

Reasons for recommendations 
 
5. The vehicle proposed in the private hire vehicle licence application to which this 

report relates, attached at Appendix A, is unsuitable as it does not meet the 
requirement described at paragraph 3.11 of the 1.3 of the relevant policy that “all 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4

mailto:rachel.lloyd@somerset.gov.uk
mailto:john.rendell@somerset.gov.uk


new licensed vehicles to be compliant with the current European Emission 
Standard (Euro)”.  

 
6. As paragraph 1.3 of the relevant states, “Public safety and confidence is 

paramount.” This should be the main consideration when exercising functions in 
relation to the licensing of hackney carriage and private hire drivers, vehicles and 
private hire operators. Officers do not believe it would be proportionate to depart 
from the relevant policy and grant a private hire vehicle licence on grounds that 
the applicant was unfamiliar with that policy. 

 
Other options considered 
 
7.  The Council has a statutory duty to grant or refuse the application. 
 
Links to Council Vision, Business Plan and Medium-Term Financial Strategy 
 
8.  The Council has a statutory duty to determine applications for hackney carriage 

and private hire driver, vehicle and private hire operator licences. Be that as it 
may, in this instance the matter at hand is relevant to the Council’s priority of ‘A 
Greener, More Sustainable Somerset’.  

 
9.  Granting of a private hire vehicle licence to the vehicle proposed in the 

application would be a departure from the ‘Environment vehicle standards’ 
element of the relevant policy adopted by South Somerset District Council in 
2022 and would seem to be contrary the above mentioned Council priority. 

 
Financial and Risk Implications 
 
10.  There are no financial implications.   
 
11.  There are no significant risks identified providing the application is determined 

correctly, in accordance with the legislation and having had due regard to the 
South Somerset policy. 

  
Legal Implications 
 
12.  Should a licence be refused, the applicant may appeal to the Magistrate’s Court. 
 
HR Implications 
 
13.  None. 

Page 14



 
Other Implications: 
 
14. None. 
 
Equalities Implications 
 
15.  When exercising its functions, the Council must consider the three aims of the 

Public Sector Equality Duty. These are: 
 

• Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

• Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

• Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

16. The protected characteristics are: 

• Age; 
• Disability; 
• Gender reassignment; 
• Marriage and civil partnership; 
• Pregnancy and maternity; 
• Race; 
• Religion and Belief; 
• Sex; 
• Sexual orientation; 

 
17. This report does not have any equality implications. 

Community Safety Implications  
 
18.  None. 
 
Climate Change and Sustainability Implications  
 
19.  South Somerset District Council incorporated the ‘Environmental vehicle 

standards’ within its hackney carriage and private hire licensing policy in 2022 
to help reduce the number of older vehicles which have higher harmful emissions. 

Page 15



Licensing vehicles which do not meet these standards is clearly contrary to the 
aim of the policy. 

 
Health and Safety Implications  
 
20.  None. 
 
Health and Wellbeing Implications  
 
21. Poor air quality can be detrimental to physical health, and mental well-being due 

to climate anxiety.  
 

22. The adoption of the ‘Environmental vehicle standards’ requirement by South 
Somerset District Council in 2022 would have significant positive impacts on the 
three priorities from the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  
 

Social Value 
 
23. As the contents of this report do not relate to a procurement process, there are 

no social value implications. 
 

Scrutiny comments / recommendations: 
 
24. As this report relates to a statutory function of the Council, which is the 

responsibility of the Regulatory Committee (delegated to a Sub Committee), 
there are no scrutiny comments or recommendations.  

 
Background 
 
30. Section 48 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 gives 

the Council the power to license private hire vehicles. This section states that the 
Council shall not grant a licence unless it is satisfied that the vehicle: 

 
• Is suitable in type, size and design. 
• Is not of such design and appearance that it may be confused with a 

hackney carriage (better known as a ‘taxi’). 
• Is in a suitable mechanical condition. 
• Is safe and comfortable. 
• Is adequately insured. 

 
 

Page 16



6.  A Council’s specific requirements in relation to each of the aforementioned 
criteria is found in its hackney carriage and private hire licensing policy. 
Somerset Council has not yet adopted a hackney carriage and private hire 
licensing policy, meaning that each of the policies adopted by the predecessor 
District Councils continue to govern how vehicles, drivers and operators may work 
in the respective former District Council areas. 

 
6.  Common across the policies of the former Somerset District Councils is that the 

need for a private hire vehicle licence application to be supported by: 
 

• The vehicle registration document (also known as the ‘V5’). 
• An MOT pass certificate. 
• Insurance certificate. 

 
7. The applicant applied to South Somerset District Council for the grant of a private 

hire vehicle licence on the 16th of March 2023. The relevant policy against which 
the application must be determined is therefore, in this case, the ‘South 
Somerset District Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy’ 
adopted for the period 2022 to 2027 (herein referred to as ‘The South Somerset 
policy’. This is attached as Appendix A. Paragraph 1.22 of this policy states that 
“In exercising its discretion in carrying out its functions, the Licensing Authority 
will have regard to this Policy and the objectives set out therein. Where it is 
necessary for the Licensing Authority to depart significantly from this Policy, clear 
and substantive reasons for doing so will be given.” 

 
8. Paragraphs 3.13 to 3.15 of the South Somerset policy set out certain 

‘Environmental vehicle standards’ that apply to hackney carriages and private hire 
vehicles. Paragraph 3.13 states that “In recognition of the Council’s wider role, 
the Licensing Authority will require all new licensed vehicles to be compliant with 
the current European Emission Standard (Euro)”. These standards describe the 
acceptable limits for exhaust emissions of new vehicles sold in the EU. There are 
different numbers of classification/standard that have been introduced, the most 
recent being ‘Euro 6’. This is the standard which is therefore required of all new 
hackney carriages and private hire vehicles. It is possible to check the Euro 
emissions standard of a vehicle for free online, at websites such as the following: 
https://www.hpi.co.uk/content/diesel-news-the-future-of-diesel/hpi-euro-
emission-standards-checker/  

 
9.  The application and accompanying documents are attached at Appendix B 

(confidential). 
 

Page 17

https://www.hpi.co.uk/content/diesel-news-the-future-of-diesel/hpi-euro-emission-standards-checker/
https://www.hpi.co.uk/content/diesel-news-the-future-of-diesel/hpi-euro-emission-standards-checker/


10. The vehicle proposed within the application, registration G** ***, is a Skoda 
Superb, first registered with the DVLA in June 2015. The Euro emissions standard 
of the vehicle is Euro 5 (Euro 6 having been mandatory for new cars from 
September 2015 onwards). This has been checked using the website mentioned 
above. The vehicle is therefore not compatible with paragraph 3.13 of the South 
Somerset policy. 

 
11. The applicant’s partner has made a written submission in support of her partner’s 

application, attached at Appendix C (confidential). In the submission, she wrote 
that she was not aware of the rules, or else would have not let her partner buy the 
vehicle. The applicant was, presumably, also unaware of the Euro 6 requirement. 
However, it should be noted that as part of the application (section 5), the 
applicant signed a declaration, part of which read “I have read South Somerset 
District Council’s current Taxi Licensing Policy and Guidance and undertake in 
the event of a licence being granted to observe and adhere to it.” It seems more 
likely than not that the applicant failed to read the South Somerset policy and 
familiarise himself with the various requirements, prior to buying the car and 
making the application.  

 
12. The Licensing Manager and Specialist accept that this it is more likely than not 

that this was a genuine, albeit careless, error on the applicant’s part. It is 
acknowledged that refusal to grant a licence would mean the applicant has lost 
money on their investment in the vehicle. However, this is not a material 
consideration. As paragraph 1.3 of the South Somerset policy states, “Public 
safety and confidence is paramount” and these should be the main 
considerations when determining applications.  

 
Background Papers 
 
31. As identified throughout the report and below under ‘Appendices’. 
 
Appendices 
 

A. South Somerset District Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy. 

B. Private hire vehicle licence application (confidential) 
C. Written submission by the applicant’s partner (confidential) 

 
 

Page 18



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 1 of 69 
 

r

 
 

 
 

South Somerset District Council Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 
 
2022 to 2027 
 
Effective from: 04/04/2022 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 2 of 69 
 

 

 

 

Table of Contents 
1.0 Introduction and Foreword .......................................................................................................5 

Aims of the Policy ...............................................................................................................................6 

Legislation and Guidance ....................................................................................................................6 

Consultation .......................................................................................................................................6 

General Principles ...............................................................................................................................6 

Common Law Police Disclosure ..........................................................................................................6 

Fit and Proper Person .........................................................................................................................7 

Fit and proper person test ..................................................................................................................7 

Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicle fit and proper person Test ......................................7 

Private Hire Operator fit and proper person test .....................................................................8 

Departure from Policy ........................................................................................................................8 

Review of Licences ..............................................................................................................................8 

Review of Policy ..................................................................................................................................8 

2.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Requirements .....................................................10 

Age requirements for drivers ...........................................................................................................10 

Authorisation to drive a Motor Car ..................................................................................................10 

Passport Photos ................................................................................................................................10 

Knowledge Test ................................................................................................................................10 

Medical Examination and Driver Health ...........................................................................................10 

Frequency of Medical Testing ...........................................................................................................11 

Medical exemptions .........................................................................................................................11 

Driving Assessment ...........................................................................................................................12 

Safeguarding of children and vulnerable individuals ........................................................................12 

Language proficiency ........................................................................................................................12 

Criminal Convictions .........................................................................................................................13 

Certificate of Good Conduct .............................................................................................................13 

Declaration of criminal and motoring convictions ...........................................................................14 

Right to work checks .........................................................................................................................14 

Term and Duration of Driver Licences ..............................................................................................14 

Expiry of drivers Licences and renewals ...........................................................................................14 

Late renewal of drivers licences .......................................................................................................14 

Page 20



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 3 of 69 
 

Changes of name / address / personal contact information ............................................................14 

Criminal Convictions and Motoring Offences Policy .........................................................................15 

Motoring Offences ............................................................................................................................16 

Disability Awareness .........................................................................................................................16 

Conditions of Driver’s Licences .........................................................................................................17 

Private Hire vehicle drivers .......................................................................................................17 

Hackney carriage drivers ..........................................................................................................17 

3.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles ..........................................................................19 

Limitation on the number of Hackney Carriage Vehicles .................................................................19 

Basic Disclosure ................................................................................................................................19 

Conditions .........................................................................................................................................19 

Inspection of Vehicles .......................................................................................................................20 

MOT ..................................................................................................................................................20 

Insurance ..........................................................................................................................................20 

Environmental vehicle standards .....................................................................................................20 

Term and Duration of Vehicle Licences ............................................................................................20 

Public Liability Insurance ..................................................................................................................20 

Vehicle Testing ..................................................................................................................................21 

V5 Documentation ............................................................................................................................21 

Bill of Sale .........................................................................................................................................22 

Roof Signs .........................................................................................................................................23 

Vehicle Licence Plates .......................................................................................................................23 

Wheelchair Access ............................................................................................................................23 

Taxi Ranks .........................................................................................................................................24 

Accidents / Collisions and Temporary Vehicle Plates .......................................................................24 

Selling a Vehicle / Transfer of ownership .........................................................................................25 

Advertising ........................................................................................................................................25 

Dual Licensing of Vehicles .................................................................................................................25 

Out of Area Working .........................................................................................................................25 

CCTV in vehicles ................................................................................................................................26 

Vehicle Enforcement ........................................................................................................................26 

4.0 Private Hire Operators ................................................................................................................27 

Duration of Private Hire Operators Licences ....................................................................................27 

Basic Criminal Record Check for Private Hire Operators ..................................................................27 

Conditions .........................................................................................................................................29 

Plate Exemption ................................................................................................................................29 

Page 21



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 4 of 69 
 

5.0 General Arrangements .............................................................................................................31 

Licence Applications .........................................................................................................................31 

Delegation of Functions ....................................................................................................................31 

Training Decision Makers .................................................................................................................31 

Penalty Point Scheme .......................................................................................................................31 

Whistleblowing .................................................................................................................................32 

Complaints ........................................................................................................................................32 

Fixing of Hackney Carriage Fares ......................................................................................................32 

Un-notified inspections (all licence holders) ....................................................................................33 

Suspensions, Revocations & Refusals ...............................................................................................33 

Appeals against Suspensions, Revocations & Refusals .....................................................................34 

Appendix A Knowledge Test Policy ................................................................................................35 

Appendix B Criminal and Motoring Convictions Policy ................................................................36 

Appendix C Standard conditions for private hire drivers ..............................................................39 

Appendix D Hackney Carriage Byelaws .........................................................................................41 

Appendix E Requirements for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles ............................46 

Appendix F Standard conditions for hackney carriage vehicles .................................................49 

Appendix G Standard conditions for private hire vehicles ...........................................................52 

Appendix H CCTV systems ..............................................................................................................54 

Appendix I Private Hire Operator Conditions .................................................................................55 

Appendix J Exemption from requirement to display Vehicle Identification. ...............................58 

Appendix K Penalty Points Policy ...................................................................................................62 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 5 of 69 
 

 

 
 

1.0 Introduction and Foreword 
 

1.1 The “Taxi” is an important part of both the public transport system, and 
infrastructure. They have, or will be, used by almost everyone during their lifetime. 
Society generally takes this service for granted, and expects it to be provided without 
incident or concern. It is reasonable to expect that a reliable and efficient service is 
provided in a safe and secure manner. They can provide a vital service at unsociable 
hours, be a lifeline for those in rural areas, or crucial for people with mobility issues. 

1.2 The majority of drivers, companies, and operators are hardworking, proud of the 
service they provide, and do not receive the credit they deserve. There are however, 
less scrupulous members of society who may see this as an opportunity to exploit 
people by for example, charging extortionate fares, or take advantage vulnerable 
adults, children, or unaccompanied females. 

1.3 Public safety and confidence is paramount. It is a balancing act in terms of being 
robust in our checks and balances, while at the same time not burdening the taxi trade 
with unnecessary costs and procedures. 

1.4 The Council is a signatory to the Somerset District Authorities Regulatory Services 
Enforcement Policy and will follow the principles set out therein whilst carrying out our 
regulatory functions as the Licensing Authority. The Policy is based upon the principles 
that our activities will be transparent, accountable, proportionate and consistent whilst 
being targeted only at cases in which action is required. This will initially be in the form 
of encouraging compliance. However more serious issues can be escalated to 
Licensing Committee or to Court if considered serious enough. This is in line with the 
Councils overall enforcement approach. 

1.5 The Council is supportive of, and will participate in partnership working with other 
agencies such as licensing authorities, DVSA, Police, other local authority services, 
and the trade for the purpose of ensuring public safety and compliance with this policy. 
In summary, the purpose of this policy is to ensure: 

• That all applicants for a drivers or operator’s licence are a fit and proper person 
to hold such a licence, and continue to be so for the duration of that licence. 

• The protection of the public in terms of their health, safety and confidence. 
• The maintenance of a respectable and reliable trade. 
• The public is provided with an efficient service. 

 

1.6 The Council believes that all applicants and holders of “taxi” licences should understand 
that the granting and holding of any such licence is a privilege not a right, and that with the 
grant of any such5  licence, they will abide by the terms of this Guidance and Statement of 
Policy.  

Page 23



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 6 of 69 
 

 
 
 

 

Aims of the Policy 
 

1.7 The aims of this policy are to provide information and guidance to licence 
applicants, clarity for vehicle licence holders, drivers and operators, and to inform the 
public as to the way the Authority will undertake its licensing functions. 
 
1.8 In addition, this Policy document seeks to assist the Licensing Authority in reaching 
decisions on applications or regarding an enforcement issue, setting out those matters 
that will normally be taken into account. 
 
 
Legislation and Guidance  
 
1.9 In preparing and publication of this Policy the Licensing Authority has had regard 
to: 
 

• Guidance issued by the Department for Transport “Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 
Licensing: Best practice guidance” – edition March 2010; 

• Department For Transport “Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards” – 
edition July 2020; 

• Relevant Legislation; 
• Disabled Persons Transport Advisory Committee (DPTAC) position on taxis 

and private hire vehicles report  
 
Consultation 
 
1.10 Before determining this policy, the council shall take into account 
comments from the following: 
 

• Consultation and discussions with other Local Authorities and Partner 
Agencies; 

• Consultation with the taxi trade; 
• Consultation with Disability and Equalities representatives. 

 
 
1.11  Nothing in this Policy document should be regarded or interpreted as an 
indication that any requirement of licensing or other law may be overridden. 
 
General Principles 
 
Common Law Police Disclosure 
 
1.12 The DBS is not the only source of information that should be considered as part 
of a fit and proper assessment for the licensing of taxi and private hire vehicle drivers. 
Common Law Police Disclosure ensures that where there is a public protection risk, 

Page 24



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 7 of 69 
 

the police will pass information to the employer or regulatory body to allow them to act 
swiftly to mitigate any danger.  
 
1.13  Law Police Disclosure replaced the Notifiable Occupations Scheme (NOS) in 
March 2015 and focuses on providing timely and relevant information which might 1.24 
indicate a public protection risk. Information is passed on at arrest or charge, rather 
than on conviction which may be some time after, allowing any measures to mitigate 
risk to be put in place immediately.  
This procedure provides robust safeguarding arrangements while ensuring only 
relevant information is passed on to employers or regulatory bodies 

Fit and Proper Person 
 

1.14 The term “fit and proper” is the legal term used within the taxi & Private Hire 
legislation. The Licensing Authority see this as meaning “safe and suitable” to hold a 
licence. When determining whether a person is “fit and proper” the Licensing Authority 
will consider the applicant’s knowledge of the local area, their driving experience, 
driving qualifications, medical fitness, criminal record any previous history as a 
licensed driver or operator and any other matter considered relevant to ensure the 
safety of the public and the driver. 

Fit and proper person test 
 

1.15 Licensing authorities have a duty to ensure that any person to whom they grant 
a taxi or private hire vehicle driver’s licence is a ‘fit and proper’ person to be a licensee. 
It may be helpful when considering whether an applicant or licensee is fit and proper 
to pose oneself the following question: 
 

1.16 “Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would 
you allow a person for whom you care, regardless of their condition, to travel 
alone in a vehicle driven by this person at any time of day or night?” 
 

1.17 If, on the balance of probabilities, the answer to the question is ‘no’, the individual 
should not hold a licence. 
 

1.18 The safeguarding of the public is paramount. All decisions on the suitability of an 
applicant or licensee should be made on the balance of probability.  

1.19 This means that an applicant or licensee should not be ‘given the benefit of doubt’. 
If the committee or delegated officer is only “50/50” as to whether the applicant or 
licensee is ‘fit and proper’, they should not hold a licence. The threshold used here is 
lower than for a criminal conviction (that being beyond reasonable doubt) and can take 
into consideration conduct that has not resulted in a criminal conviction. Where the 
term fit and proper is used in relation to vehicle owners and operators, the test is 
adapted to be relevant to those activities.  

Page 25



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 8 of 69 
 

Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicle fit and proper person Test 
 

1.20 Would I be comfortable allowing this person to have control of a licensed vehicle 
that can travel anywhere, at any time of the day or night without arousing suspicion, 
and be satisfied that he/she would not allow it to be used for criminal or other 
unacceptable purposes, and be confident that he/she would maintain it to an 
acceptable standard throughout the period of the licence? 
 
Private Hire Operator fit and proper person test 
 
1.21 Would I be comfortable providing sensitive information such as holiday plans, 
movements of my family or other information to this person, and feel safe in the 
knowledge that such information will not be used or passed on for criminal or 
unacceptable purposes? 
 
Departure from Policy 
 
1.22 In exercising its discretion in carrying out its functions, the Licensing Authority will 
have regard to this Policy and the objectives set out therein.  

Where it is necessary for the Licensing Authority to depart significantly from this Policy, 
clear and substantive reasons for doing so will be given.  

Review of Licences 
1.23 Any changes in licensing requirements shall be followed by a review of the 
licences already issued. If the need to change licensing requirements has been 
identified, this same need is applicable to those already in possession of a licence. 
That is not however to suggest that licences should be automatically revoked 
overnight, a pragmatic approach should be taken to changes and where possible a 
reasonable time should be allowed for these to be accommodated. The 
implementation schedule of any changes that affect current licence holders must be 
transparent and communicated promptly and clearly. 
 

1.24 Where a more subjective change has been introduced, for example an amended 
policy on previous convictions, the Licensing Authority must consider each case on its 
own merits. Where there are exceptional, clear and compelling reasons to deviate from 
a policy, licensing authorities should consider doing so. Licensing authorities should 
record the reasons for any deviation from the policies in place. 

Review of Policy 
 
1.25 The Policy will be formally reviewed every 5 years, but kept under review to 
consider the performance of the policy, any changes in legislation and best practice, 
information collated over a period of time, together with the outcomes of any updates 
in legislation or associated government guidance.  
 
1.26 The Policy and any supporting appendices to the Policy may be updated from 
time to time between full Policy reviews and applicants and other interested parties 
are advised to contact the Licensing Authority for the most up-to-date information. 

Page 26



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 9 of 69 
 

 
1.27  The licensing of hackney carriage vehicles and drivers and private hire vehicles, 
drivers and operators is largely governed by the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, Part 
II of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the Transport Act 
1985.  The Council have also introduced various other conditions, which can be found 
in full later in this document.  

1.28 In order to conduct a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire operation, the following 
licences are required: 

To drive a licensed private hire taxi: hackney carriage/private hire drivers Licence 

To operate a taxi vehicle: hackney carriage vehicle licence. The vehicle must be fitted 
with a meter and a roof sign. This type of vehicle can use taxi ranks (in South 
Somerset), be hailed in the street (in South Somerset) and be used for pre-booked 
work.  

To operate a private hire vehicle: private hire vehicle licence. This vehicle can be used 
for pre-booked work only and must not be fitted with a roof sign. A private hire 
operators licence is also required.  

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 10 of 69 
 

 

 

 

2.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Requirements 
 

Age requirements for drivers 
 

2.1 Drivers must be at least 21 years old. There is no upper age limit, as long as 
applicants meet the other licensing requirements.  

Authorisation to drive a Motor Car 
 

2.2 Applicants must hold a full UK (or exchangeable) driving licence and have held a 
full driving licence for at least 1 year.  

2.3 Drivers must provide their driving licence card or the older style paper part if issued 
pre 1998 as part of their application.  

2.4 Drivers will consent for their motoring conviction history to be verified, or provide 
evidence of any motoring convictions at both the point of application, and at interim 
points throughout the period of their licence via a source and frequency approved by 
the Licensing Authority 

Passport Photos 
 

2.5 Two up to date certified photos to be provided with new and renewal applications. 
The Licensing Authority reserve the right to refuse your submitted photographs, if they 
feel the image is not of a suitable standard. You will be asked to submit replacements, 
and this may delay your application 

Knowledge Test 
 

2.6 New Drivers applying for either a Hackney or Private Hire driver licence must 
complete a Knowledge Test. This will be to a standard and requirement approved by 
the Licensing Authority. Drivers will be allowed to have a maximum of 3 attempts at 
passing the test. After 3 failures of the test, the Licensing Authority will not continue 
with the application. The driver will not be permitted to reapply for a drivers licence or 
book a knowledge test for 12 months from the date of the third failure. The fee for the 
knowledge test is non-refundable in the event of a withdrawn, refused or failed 
application. The knowledge test policy is set out in Appendix A 

Medical Examination and Driver Health 
 

Page 28



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 11 of 69 
 

2.7 Drivers must take a medical examination to DVLA Group 2 standard.  This must 
be carried out by a medical professional who has access to the driver’s medical 
records. The completed medical will include a date / age specified by the professional 
as to when the driver is next due a medical test. If no date is given, then current DVLA 
group 2 medical guidance will apply.  

2.8 The Licensing Authority will issue a reminder to the driver shortly before the 
medical expires.  If a medical expires with no replacement, then the hackney 
carriage/private hire drivers licence will be suspended and the driver will be required 
to return their paper licence and driver identification badges immediately to the 
licensing unit. These will not be released back to the driver until a completed 
successful medical has been received.  

2.9 Failure to comply with the request to return badges from the Licensing Authority 
will usually result in penalty points being issued which may result in a referral to a 
licensing committee recommending suspension or revocation of the drivers licence. If 
a proprietor is known, they will also be informed of the driver’s situation and instructed 
to comply in not permitting driving of their business vehicles by the individual. 

2.10 Medicals in respect of HGV (Heavy Goods Vehicles), or PSV (Public Service 
Vehicles) may be accepted, but cannot have been carried out more than 3 months 
before they are submitted to the Licensing Authority. Evidence that the medical has 
been passed must be provided by the driver (i.e. the person completing the medical 
must state if the driver is fit or unfit to drive a licensed vehicle). The cost of the medical 
is payable by the driver to the medical assessor, and is therefore non-refundable in 
the event of any withdrawn or refused application.  

2.11 Any change in your medical condition that may affect your driving ability must be 
notified to the Licensing Authority within 3 working days, or as soon as practical 
thereafter. If the driver is given instruction by a medical professional, or the DVLA that 
they are unable to drive for a specific period, the paper Hackney / Private Hire licence 
and identification badges must be returned. Any written evidence of this decision is 
also required. In such circumstances, the driver must then produce to the Licensing 
Authority a certificate or letter, signed by a medical professional, certifying that they 
are now fit to return to work to DVLA Group 2 medical standards. 

Frequency of Medical Testing 
  
2.12 Licence holders turning 45 years of age must submit a medical no more than 2 
months following their 45th birthday and every 5 years thereafter until the age of 65 
years old. Following their 65th birthday, a medical must be submitted annually.  

Medical exemptions  
 
2.13  The Licensing Authority recognises that some medical conditions can be made 
worse by the nature and type of work an individual performs, and that some conditions 
may prevent certain types of activity. For this purpose, the Licensing Authority will 
normally allow the following exemptions from the normal duties of a licensed hackney 
carriage and/or private hire driver where satisfied that there are good medical reasons 
to do so.  

Page 29



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 12 of 69 
 

 
(a) Exemption from the carriage of assistance dogs - may be permitted where the 
Licensing Authority is satisfied of any condition such as severe asthma or allergy, 
which is aggravated by contact or exposure to dogs.  
 
(b) Exemptions from the carriage of luggage and/or handling of wheelchair users 
– may be permitted where the Licensing Authority is satisfied of any condition (e.g. 
musculoskeletal pain), which is aggravated by the carriage and/or manual handling of 
heavy loads.  
 
2.14 To ensure transparency and fairness, the Licensing Authority will normally grant 
an exemption certificate where the applicant driver can provide suitable medical 
evidence (at their own expense) and, where appropriate, a medical history of the 
condition concerned to the satisfaction of the Council’s independent medical advisor. 
This may require an applicant to attend examination or review (i.e. a face to face 
assessment) by the Council's independent medical advisor (or suitable equivalent).  
 
2.15 Further to the general policy of accessibility of vehicles and in recognition of the 
requirements of the law, the Licensing Authority will, where appropriate, grant an 
exemption certificate, showing the photograph of the driver, that must, on condition, 
be displayed in the vehicle at all times the driver is working.  
 

Driving Assessment 
 

2.16 All new drivers must provide a pass certificate from a formal driving assessment 
with either the Driver Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA), or from a service provider 
approved by the Licensing Authority. The pass certificate can be no more than 5 years 
old at the time of submitting it with your application. Details of these providers can be 
found on our website. The cost for these assessments is to be paid by the driver to 
the provider and is non-refundable in the event of a withdrawn or refused application.  

Safeguarding of children and vulnerable individuals 
 

2.17 Drivers will be required to undertake mandatory safeguarding training before a 
licence is issued. This training will be from a provider approved by the Licensing 
Authority. Drivers may also be required to undertake refresher training from a provider 
approved by the licensing team during the period of any future licence renewal. Failure 
to complete such training when required will result in referral to a licensing committee 
recommending revocation of the licence. Should a licence holder fail to report a 
safeguarding concern, they will be investigated and may have their licence revoked or 
suspended.  
 
Language proficiency  
 

2.18 A lack of language proficiency could impact on a driver’s ability to understand 
written documents, such as policies and guidance, relating to the protection of children 

Page 30



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 13 of 69 
 

and vulnerable adults and applying this to identify and act on signs of exploitation. Oral 
proficiency will be of relevance in the identification of potential exploitation through 
communicating with passengers and their interaction with others.  
 
2.19 The Licensing Authority’s test of a driver’s proficiency shall cover both oral and 
written English language skills to achieve the objectives stated above. 
 
Criminal Convictions 
 

2.20 All drivers are required to have an enhanced DBS criminal convictions check. All 
licensed drivers are required to have continuous registration with the DBS update 
service and give consent for their DBS record to be accessed  by the Licensing 
Authority to enable routine checks for new information every six months. Drivers that 
do not subscribe up to the Update Service will also be subject to a check every six 
months 

2.21 If at any stage the Licensing Authority are unable to verify the drivers online DBS 
status (i.e. their online account has lapsed, or the driver has a new conviction), then 
the driver will be contacted, and must return their paper licence and ID badges with 
immediate effect. The licence and badges will not be returned until a new DBS 
application, and online DBS account have been completed, and a result certificate 
verified. The driver is therefore not permitted to drive during this period.  

2.22 Criminal convictions will be considered using the criminal convictions policy 
contained in Appendix B).  

Certificate of Good Conduct  
 

2.23 It is a requirement of the DBS that if an applicant has lived abroad for a period of 
6 months in the last ten years or is from an (EEA) Member State or other country, then 
a Certificate of Good Conduct (or equivalent) authenticated and translated by the 
relevant embassy is required. The applicant will normally have to make an 
appointment to visit the Embassy of their country here in the UK, to make 
arrangements to obtain this document. Please refer to The DBS website for more 
information about obtaining these certificates, or similar documents from other 
countries. This process applies to both foreign nationals coming from abroad, and UK 
nationals who have lived abroad.  
 
2.24 To ensure authenticity, currency and efficiency of use, the Licensing Authority 
requires that certificates of good conduct (or suitable equivalent) be -  
 
(a) translated and submitted in written English;  
 
(b) authenticated/certified as a true and accurate record by the relevant Embassy; and  
 
(c) dated within 6 months of the date of submission or within a period otherwise 
considered appropriate in the circumstances.  
 

Page 31



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 14 of 69 
 

 
Declaration of criminal and motoring convictions 
 

2.25 For all licence holders, all current, and subsequent criminal and motoring 
convictions, cautions and fixed penalties must be declared to the Licensing Authority. 
This includes declaring any pending convictions or matters under investigation, or that 
are the subject of any appeal.  

2.26 Licence holders shall notify the Licensing Authority within 48 hours of an arrest 
and release, charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any offence involving 
dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence 

2.27 Failure by a licence holder to disclose an arrest that the Licensing Authority is 
subsequently advised of will usually be seen as behaviour that questions honesty and 
therefore the suitability of the licence holder regardless of the outcome of the initial 
allegation. 

2.28  A decision to refuse or revoke a licence as the individual is thought to present a 
risk of harm to a child or vulnerable adult, shall be referred to the DBS. 

Right to work checks 
 

2.29 Since the introduction of the Immigration Act 2016, all applicants for a Hackney 
Carriage or Private Hire driver’s licence or renewal will need to demonstrate that they 
have the right to work in the UK before they can be issued with a licence. 

Term and Duration of Driver Licences  
 

2.30 Driver licences will be issued for a period of 3 years, except where there is a 
specific reason to issue it for a shorter period.  
 
Expiry of drivers Licences and renewals 
 

2.31 If the driver wishes to continue driving, they must complete a renewal application 
on the appropriate authority application form. Instructions regarding the renewal 
process and supporting documentation required will be issued to drivers by the 
Licensing Authority shortly before expiry.   

Late renewal of drivers licences 
 

2.32 If a renewal application is received after expiry, unless there are exceptional 
circumstances, this will be classified as a break in the licence. The application will be 
treated as “new” rather than “renewal”.  

Changes of name / address / personal contact information 
 

2.33 All licence holders, are required to notify the Licensing Authority of any change 
of name or address, within 5 working days of the event. This also applies to a contact 

Page 32



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 15 of 69 
 

telephone number and e-mail address. A new paper licence would be issued in respect 
of changes to name and / or address for which there is a fee. Any letter issued by the 
Council, or under any of the provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act, 1847, Part II 
of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976 and all other relevant 
legislation, will be classed as issued correctly, if served personally on them or sent to 
them by pre-paid post to, or left at, the last known / declared address of the holder of 
the licence.  

Criminal Convictions and Motoring Offences Policy  
 

2.34 The Council has adopted the Institute of Licensing’s Guidance on determining 
the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private hire trades. 

2.35 The Licensing Authority when considering convictions and cautions recorded 
against an applicant or an existing licensed driver will have regard to the “Criminal 
Convictions Policy” set out in Appendix B. 
 
2.36 In assessing whether an applicant or licensed driver is a “fit and proper” person 
to hold a licence, the Licensing Authority will consider each case on its own merit. 
 
2.37 Upon receipt of the enhanced DBS check, the Licensing Authority will assess 
whether any or all of the convictions and/or cautions can have real relevance to the 
issue of if the applicant or licensed driver is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. 
The Licensing Authority will also take into account any fixed penalty notices and other 
information, but only in so far as they are relevant to an application for a licence or 
impact on the continuance of an existing driver licence. In certain cases, the matter 
may be referred to the Council’s Licensing Committee for determination. 
 
2.38 The Licensing Authority will have regard to fixed penalties when considering if an 
applicant is a fit and proper person. Failure to inform the Licensing Authority of any 
fixed penalty notices obtained during the application or licence period may result in 
possible rejection of the application or suspension or revocation of the licence. 
 
2.39 In relation to cautions, the Licensing Authority will have regard to the nature of 
the infraction when considering their relevance to an application or continuance of an 
existing driver licence. 
 
2.40 In relation to previous convictions, the Licensing Authority will have regard to the 
following: 
 

• The nature of the offence/s;  
• The age of the offence/s;  
• The apparent seriousness, as gauged by the penalty applied. 
  In general terms, the more recent, serious and relevant the offence is, the less likely 
that an application will be granted or that an existing licence will be permitted to remain 
in effect. 
 
2.41 The presence of past or acquired criminal convictions by a person will not 
automatically prevent a person holding a licence and will be assessed against the 
Licensing Authority’s Criminal Convictions Policy shown at Appendix B 

Page 33



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 16 of 69 
 

Motoring Offences 
 

2.42 If a currently licensed hackney carriage/private hire driver reaches 7 points on 
their DVLA driving licence they will be referred to the Licensing Committee.  

2.43 New applicants with 7 or more points on their DVLA driving licences will be 
determined in accordance with the Criminal Convictions and Motoring Offences Policy  

Disability Awareness 
 

2.44 The Licensing Authority will require all applicants to submit a pass certificate from 
a recognised training provider to demonstrate that they have attended a suitable 
course of instruction in disability awareness, in addition the Licensing Authority notes 
that some wheelchair users may require driver assistance to safely enter, travel in and 
alight from a licensed vehicle. Accordingly, it is the policy of the Licensing Authority to 
ensure that those who provide a wheelchair accessible driving service can 
demonstrate a sufficient level of competence in the (un)loading, security and safety of 
wheelchair users to a level commensurate with this role.  
 

2.45 To ensure authenticity, currency and efficiency of use, the Licensing Authority 
will, where appropriate, require that relevant pass certificates be dated within 6 months 
of the date of submission 

 
Mobile phones and other handheld devices 

 
2.46 The use of any handheld devices whilst driving is prohibited. Licence holders who 
are found to do so may have penalty points issued or their licence suspended or 
revoked. 
 

National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations (NR3) 

2.47 Licence applications that are revoked or refused by an officer or licensing 
committee, on the grounds of public safety, will now be recorded on the NR3 database. 
Basic identifying information, such as name, date of birth, national insurance number, 
driving licence number, and date of decision, will be recorded on the database. This 
record stays on the database for 25 years. New and renewal driver applications will 
also be checked against the database. In the case of a match, Licensing Authorities 
must contact the listing Licensing Authority to obtain full details of the specific licensing 
committee decision. For further details of NR3 please refer to our website. 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 34



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 17 of 69 
 

Conditions of Driver’s Licences 
 
Private Hire vehicle drivers  
 
2.48 Section 51(2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
allows the Licensing Authority to attach such conditions to a private hire vehicle driver's 
licence as may be considered reasonably necessary.  
 
2.49 The conditions that the Licensing Authority generally considers reasonably 
necessary and will normally be applied in respect of private hire vehicle drivers are 
detailed in Appendix C.  
 
2.50 Where appropriate, the Licensing Authority may remove, modify and/or attach 
additional and/or alternative conditions appropriate to the individual circumstances of 
the case. 
  
Hackney carriage drivers  
 
2.51 By law, the Licensing Authority is not permitted to attach conditions to a hackney 
carriage driver's licence but may formally regulate standards etc through the adoption 
of local byelaws instead. South Somerset has adopted local byelaws in relation to 
hackney carriages. The Licensing Authority will attach those conditions detailed in 
Appendix D by way of advising drivers of the standards expected of them and to 
enable them to comply with the extant byelaws. 
 
Taximeters, fares, and fare cards 

2.52 Hackney Carriages must be fitted with a taximeter 

2.53 The meter will be programmed with the current tariff (or lower), as set by the 
Council  

2.54 The meter will not be turned on until all passengers are secured safely and the 
journey commences. It will turned off on arrival at the destination point, and when the 
vehicle has come to a halt. 

2.55 When the vehicle is at the pick-up point at the agreed and requested time, and 
the driver is instructed to wait, or given a change of destination, the vehicle is 
deemed to be hired at that point. 

2.56 The current fare card must be clearly displayed and visible to passengers at all 
times. 

2.57 The driver may charge less than the figure shown on the meter but not more. 

2.58 The amount payable by the customer displayed on the meter, must remain 
visible at all times during the journey until the fare has been paid. 

2.59 The proprietor / driver shall not tamper with the meter or its seals, or request 
anyone else to do so, unless they are an authorised officer of the council. 

Page 35



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 18 of 69 
 

2.60 In the event of a fare being agreed in advance, and the meter being in operation for the 
journey, at arrival, the driver must always charge the lower of the two figures. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 19 of 69 
 

3.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles  
 

3.1 When considering the purchase of a vehicle, applicants should contact the 
Licensing Authority for advice should they be in any doubt as to whether or not the 
vehicle will comply with Council Policy.  It is recommended that such advice is taken 
before purchasing the vehicle. 

3.2 Before South Somerset District Council will consider licensing a vehicle for the first 
time it must meet the vehicle specification set out in Appendix E.  

Limitation on the number of Hackney Carriage Vehicles 
 

3.3 The Licensing Authority has no limitation on for the number of hackney carriages 
which may be licensed within the South Somerset District Council area.  

Basic Disclosure 
 

3.4 This Licensing Authority will require applicants for vehicle licences to undertake a 
basic disclosure from the DBS and ensure that a check is undertaken annually. Any 
individual may apply for a basic check and the certificate will disclose any unspent 
convictions recorded on the Police National Computer (PNC). The basic disclosure 
shall not be more than 3 months old at the time it is submitted with a vehicle 
application.  

3.5 Consideration will be given to whether an applicant or licence holder with a 
conviction for offences provided in Appendix B to this document, other than those 
relating to driving, meet the ‘fit and proper’ threshold. 

3.6 If an individual holds a valid Taxi or Private Hire driver licence with South Somerset 
District Council and the DBS twice-yearly checks are up to date and acceptable then 
no additional check will need to be provided should they apply for a vehicle licence. 

3.7 A refusal to license an individual as a driver or to suspend or revoke a driver licence 
does not automatically mean that that individual cannot be issued or continue to hold 
a vehicle licence; these decisions will be made independent of a driver licence refusal 
and based on the appropriate information i.e. it should not consider information that 
would only be available via an enhanced DBS check but instead that which would be 
disclosed on a basic check. 

 

Conditions 
3.8 Conditions will be applied to vehicle licences granted by South Somerset District 

Council. The conditions can be found in the following appendices 
 

Hackney Carriage vehicle licence conditions Appendix F  

Hackney Carriage Byelaws Appendix G 

Page 37



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 20 of 69 
 

Private Hire vehicle licence conditions Appendix H  

Inspection of Vehicles 
3.9 The vehicle must be inspected at the Councils in-house maintenance department, 
or authorised equivalent and a pass certificate issued. In addition, proprietors may 
have to submit their vehicle for scheduled inspection at a reasonable time and location 
within the District as specified in a written notice, issued to the proprietor. Notice is 
considered served, if issued personally to them, posted to, or left at, the last known 
address of the licence holder.  

MOT  
 

3.10 A current MOT certificate is required on all vehicles over one year old. This is in 
addition to the Council vehicle inspection test carried out annually or biannually.  

Insurance 
 

3.11 The Licensing Authority will require a suitable policy of insurance on grant or 
renewal of any hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence.  
 
3.12 Before permitting any licensed Hackney Carriage driver to drive the vehicle, the 
licence holder shall ensure that the driver is adequately insured to do so. 
 
Environmental vehicle standards 
 

3.13 In recognition of the Council’s wider role, the Licensing Authority will require all 
new licensed vehicles to be compliant with the current European Emission Standard 
(EURO) 

3.14 In line with South Somerset District Council’s Environment Strategy applicants 
are actively encouraged to promote and invest in vehicles and related technologies 
that offer the best environmental standards in terms of emissions, the use of cleaner 
fuels, fuel and engine efficiency (i.e. performance) and end-of life recycling etc.  

3.15 Specific requests for vehicles outside of this specification would have to be 
approved by the Licensing Committee.  

Term and Duration of Vehicle Licences 
 

3.16 The Licensing Authority will normally and, where appropriate, grant a hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle licence for a period of 12 months; this being the 
statutory maximum duration.  
 
Public Liability Insurance  
 
3.17 The Licensing Authority recognises that hackney carriage and/or private hire 
driver’s often perform duties other than driving passengers from A to B as part of their 
daily business e.g. carriage and loading of luggage, assistance of passengers 
(including the elderly and wheelchair passengers) etc. For this reason, the Licensing 

Page 38



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 21 of 69 
 

Authority will require applicants to provide and, on condition, maintain a suitable policy 
of public liability insurance that adequately covers any damage, loss or injury to any 
third party (e.g. customers and other members of the public) or property that may arise 
during the course of a driver’s day to day activities.  
 
3.18 For this purpose, the Licensing Authority will normally take a suitable policy of 
insurance to mean valid public liability insurance that 
 
(a) covers up to £5 Million for each and every claim in respect of any damage, loss or 
injury arising from the activities of the driver; and  
 
(b) indemnifies the driver while performing his taxi driver duties both in and outside 
(i.e. away/remote from) the vehicle (e.g. carriage of luggage and/or provision of 
assistance to a customer’s home etc).  
 
3.19 In an effort to ensure that suitable public liability insurance is maintained for the 
term and duration of any licence issued, the Licensing Authority will normally require 
renewal applicants to submit all relevant public liability insurance documents held in 
respect of their activities over the term and duration of their (pre)existing licence.  
 

Vehicle Testing 
 

3.20 Taxis and Private Hire vehicles typically complete higher mileage than vehicles 
used for private use, therefore, the licensed vehicles will require additional testing over 
and above the legal requirements for cars, MPVs etc.  

3.21 Vehicles under 5 years old are required to pass an annual inspection at the 
Council’s testing station (or approved equivalent) and required to have an annual MOT 
test. The inspection at the Council’s testing station (or approved equivalent) will be 
carried out at the grant and renewal of the licence 

3.22 Vehicles 5 years old and over are required to pass biannual inspections at the 
Council’s testing station (or approved equivalent) and an annual MOT. The tests at the 
Council’s testing station will be carried out at grant and renewal and around the mid-
point of the licenced period. The vehicle licence will normally be suspended if the 
second test is not carried out, or the vehicle fails the test.   

3.23 Failure to attend a vehicle test or give adequate notice of cancellation will 
normally result in full payment of the fee to have the vehicle tested and issuing of 
penalty points contained in Appendix I 

 
V5 Documentation 
 

3.24 Applications for the continuation of a vehicle licence must be accompanied by a 
full V5 document. The registered keeper name must reflect the name of the licence 
applicant.  
 

Page 39



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 22 of 69 
 

Bill of Sale 
 

3.25 To assist vehicle identification and proof of interest and/or ownership and, in 
recognition of the time it can take for a DVLA vehicle registration document (V5) to be 
updated following transfer, suitable proof of sale will, where appropriate, be required 
for any first-time vehicle licence application.  
 
3.26 Suitable proof of sale will be taken to mean written correspondence signed and 
dated by the transferor and transferee (including name and address) declaring the 
sale/transfer of the vehicle (make, model and vehicle index) to the named transferee. 
For this purpose, a copy of the DVLA vehicle registration document (V5), letter, hire 
purchase agreement or similar completed with the new vehicle keeper details will 
normally be acceptable.  
 
Insurance write-offs  
 
3.27 For reasons of public safety, the Licensing Authority will not normally accept any 
vehicle that has been subject to such damage as to be categorised as a category A or 
B ‘write off’ by a relevant insurance company under the extant Code of Practice for the 
Disposal of Motor Vehicle Salvage. As damage at this level cannot always be detected 
or fully repaired, this policy will apply regardless of whether or not the vehicle has since 
been repaired to an MOT pass standard.  
 
Taximeter certification  
 
3.28 The Licensing Authority may require both on grant, renewal or when a rate 
change takes place, suitable documentation that certifies any taximeter to be used in 
the vehicle is either –  
 
(a) sealed (or otherwise incapable of tampering);  
 
(b) calendarised; and/or  
 
(c) programmed in accordance with the current scheme of fares in force for the time 
being.  
 
3.29 Where appropriate and by way of ensuring public protection, calendarisation, 
programming and certification of taximeters must be undertaken by an independent 
competent person. 
  
Lifting equipment inspection certification  
 
3.30 The Licensing Authority notes that for reasons of safety and maintenance, any 
mechanical lifting equipment is subject to periodic inspection and testing requirements 
under the Lifting Equipment & Lifting Operations Regulations 1998 (LOLER). 
Therefore, for reasons of public safety and compliance with the law, the Licensing 
Authority will normally require applicant proprietors to submit and maintain a valid 
LOLER certificate for each piece of lifting equipment that may be fitted to or within the 
vehicle (e.g. powered swivel seats, mechanical lifts etc).  

Page 40



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 23 of 69 
 

Roof Signs 
 
3.31 Hackney carriages must carry and display or otherwise be fitted with a roof 
mounted ‘Taxi’ sign (or similar wording) that is clearly visible when the vehicle is 
available for hire both by day and night. So as to avoid claims of illegally plying for hire 
(e.g. in another area for which the vehicle is not licensed), the design must be such 
that any illumination can be switched off independently of any other vehicle system 
when the vehicle is hired or not in use as a taxi.  
 
3.32 So as to avoid any confusion with a hackney carriage, the Licensing Authority will 
normally seek to ensure that private hire vehicles do not employ, display or otherwise 
have affixed – any roof mounted signage. 
 
Vehicle Licence Plates 
 

3.33 At all times, one current plate shall be securely fixed (Velcro is not considered to 
be secure enough) to the exterior of the vehicle at the rear. The internal badge shall 
be displayed in the upper left corner of the windscreen with details facing outwards 
and the ‘glow in the dark’ number facing inwards. They must be clearly visible and 
maintained in a clean, tidy and legible condition.  

3.34 The plates remain the property of the South Somerset District Council at all times 
and in the case of revocation, suspension, or refusal to renew, shall be returned on 
expiry, or within 5 working days of the notice being served. 

3.35 In addition to the above, private hire vehicles are required to display external door 
stickers on the driver and passenger sides of the vehicle.  

3.36 No proprietor may offer for sale such a licence unless the sale is for the whole 
licensed vehicle (in which case an application for the transfer of a vehicle licence must 
be made) – the plate in isolation may not be sold under any circumstances. All expired 
plates, and those that are no longer required due to the sale or scrappage of the 
vehicle, are to be returned to the Licensing Authority within 5 working days of the 
event, or next available working day thereafter. If vehicle plates are reported stolen to 
the Licensing Authority, then the relevant police crime number must also be submitted. 

 
Wheelchair Access 
 

3.37 In accordance with the DPTAC report, the Licensing Authority requires that a 
mixture of wheelchair accessible and non-wheelchair accessible vehicles should be 
provided. The licensing authority will adopt the recommended minimum proportion of 
25% of the total of all licensed vehicles.  

 

3.38 At the time of adopting this revised policy the total number of licensed Hackney 
Carriages is 116 with 39 of these wheelchair accessible i.e. 33%.  

Page 41



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 24 of 69 
 

 

3.39 Numbers will be continuously monitored to ensure we do not fall below the 25% 
minimum standard and where this is at risk of occurring it may be necessary to insist 
on new licenses being issued for wheelchair accessible vehicles only.  

Taxi Ranks 
 

3.40 When on a taxi rank, vehicles must fill the rank from the front, and queue in the 
next space behind. Vehicles will then move forward as soon as a taxi moves away and 
space becomes available. If a rank is full, the driver must make alternative 
arrangements or find another rank. Vehicles must never be left unattended on the rank 
for any length of time. Drivers do not have to stay in the vehicle, but must remain in 
the immediate vicinity of the rank. 

Accidents / Collisions and Temporary Vehicle Plates 
 

3.41 The proprietor (and driver if different) of a vehicle must both report to the 
Licensing Authority any accident involving their vehicle, as soon as reasonably 
practicable, and in any case, within 3 working days of the occurrence, in accordance 
with the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976. At the time of 
contact, the Licensing Authority will advise all parties if this declaration is sufficient, or 
if they must provide in writing a full and suitable account of the incident, details of who 
was driving, and if appropriate, details of any insurance claim. This action will normally 
be required for more serious incidents.  

3.42 In recognition of the variable nature and degree of damage that can be incurred 
in vehicle accidents, the Licensing Authority will normally seek to inspect the vehicle 
and/or direct that the vehicle be subject to inspection and/or testing at a place and by 
individuals of its choice. Where this is not practical (e.g. the vehicle has already been 
taken to or recovered by a mechanic etc), the Licensing Authority will normally require 
suitable confirmation of the vehicle's condition and status.  
 
3.43 Where appropriate, the Licensing Authority has powers to suspend and/or revoke 
a vehicle licence, or otherwise allow the vehicle to continue in use (whether or not 
pending repair, inspection and/or testing etc). The Licensing Authority will normally 
have regard to – the appearance of the vehicle, the comfort and convenience of 
passengers, nature and extent of the damage, security of the vehicle (if the driver is 
able to access and drive the vehicle) safety and performance of the vehicle.  
 
3.44 Damage to the vehicle must be repaired as soon as is practicable.  

3.45 If the accident damage consists of cosmetic damage only; a schedule of works 
and visual inspection by the Licensing Authority will be sufficient.  
 
3.46 If the damage to the vehicle consists of mechanical/structural damage a vehicle 
test at the Council’s testing station (or authorised equivalent) will be required (a fee 
will be payable for this).  
 

Page 42



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 25 of 69 
 

3.47 When a vehicle is off the road as a result of an accident or collision, a temporary 
plate can be issued for a replacement vehicle through an insurance company, and a 
process approved by the Licensing Authority. A temporary plate will be issued for a 
maximum of 3 months. It will be the responsibility of the proprietor to provide 
documentary evidence as to why the vehicle cannot be repaired within this time. If 
temporary plates are not returned, a charge may be levied.  

Selling a Vehicle / Transfer of ownership 
 

3.48 If a proprietor sells or transfers their interest in a vehicle, they must notify the 
Licensing Authority within 5 working days, giving details of the person to whom the 
vehicle has been sold or transferred. A transfer of ownership application must be 
received within 5 working days of the event, from the new keeper that wishes to licence 
the vehicle. 

 
Advertising  
 
3.49 Advertising is permitted on Hackney Carriages provided that it is truthful, legal 
and decent, and does not obscure the licence, vehicle registration plates or any other 
signage required to be on the vehicle. 

3.50 By way of a further distinction between hackney carriage and private hire vehicles 
and by way of providing clarity to the side plates required on private hire vehicles, the 
Licensing Authority will not normally permit any advertising on any private hire vehicle, 
other than corporate branding of the operator concerned 

 
Dual Licensing of Vehicles 
 

3.51 South Somerset District Council does not allow the dual licensing of their licenced 
Hackney or Private Hire Vehicles with any other Council area. If it is established that 
a vehicle is licenced in multiple districts, it renders the South Somerset licence invalid 
with immediate effect, with no right to a refund. 

 
Out of Area Working 
 
3.52 When an applicant wishes to licence a vehicle as a hackney carriage the Council 
will require information, pursuant to section 57 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, as to whether the applicant intends to use the 
vehicle to stand or ply for hire in South Somerset District Council’s area and also if the 
applicant intends to use the vehicle entirely or predominantly remotely from South 
Somerset District Council’s area on a pre-booked basis. 
 
3.53 Whilst each application will be considered on its own merits, the Council will have 
regard to the geographic location of an applicant’s home and business address. 
 
3.54 If the Council believes that the hackney carriage is to be used entirely or 

Page 43



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 26 of 69 
 

predominantly remotely from South Somerset District Council’s area on a pre-booked 
basis, then the application for a licence will normally be refused 

 

CCTV in vehicles 
 

3.55 CCTV is not mandatory but the Licensing Authority recognises that the use of 
CCTV can provide a safer environment for the benefit of hackney carriage/private hire 
vehicle passengers and drivers by:  

• deterring and preventing the occurrence of crime;  
• reducing the fear of crime;  
• assisting the police in investigating incidents of crime;  
• assisting insurance companies in investigating motor vehicle accidents.  
 
3.57 The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicle trades are encouraged to 
consider the installation of CCTV cameras in their vehicles on a voluntary basis and it 
will then be incumbent upon the operator to handle relevant data gathered in an 
appropriate and secure manner. Should a system be installed it shall comply with the 
requirements set out in Appendix H 
 
Vehicle Enforcement 
 

3.58 Any Authorised Officer of the Council is empowered to inspect and test, for the 
purpose of ascertaining its fitness, any vehicle licensed by the Council.  If they are not 
satisfied as to the fitness of a vehicle, they may give notice in writing of the defects to 
the proprietor and require the vehicle to be made available for a further inspection.  A 
licence may be suspended until the officer is satisfied of the condition of a vehicle. In 
cases of significant public safety risk, inspectors are permitted to remove the licences 
plates without warning to the proprietor. This vehicle can no longer be used until the 
defects are rectified and licence plates restored by officers. 

3.59 Where the need arises, Licensing Authorities may jointly authorise officers from 
other authorities so that compliance and enforcement action can be taken against 
licensees from outside their area. This enables the use of enforcement powers 
regardless of which authority within the agreement the officer is employed by and 
which issued the licence. Such an agreement will enable those authorities to take 
action against those that are licensed by the other authority when they cross over 
boundaries. This will also mitigate the opportunities for drivers to evade regulation. 

 

 
 

 

Page 44



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 27 of 69 
 

4.0 Private Hire Operators 
 

4.1  Any individual, company or similar who, in the course of their business, makes 
any provision for the invitation and acceptance of bookings for (i.e. to operate) a private 
hire vehicle must hold a private hire operator's licence.  
 
4.2  NB: A private hire operator may only operate a private hire vehicle that has been 
licensed by the same authority as the operator. Likewise, the private hire vehicle may 
only be driven by a private hire driver licensed by the same authority. All three licences 
(operator, vehicle and driver) must be issued by the same authority i.e. SSDC). This 
is known as ‘the three licence rule’ 

Duration of Private Hire Operators Licences 
 

4.3 Licensing Authority will, where appropriate, normally grant or renew a private hire 
operator's licence for a maximum period of five years.  

Basic Criminal Record Check for Private Hire Operators  
 

4.4 This Licensing Authority will require applicants for vehicle licences to undertake a 
basic disclosure from the DBS and ensure that a check is undertaken annually. The 
basic disclosure shall be submitted with an application no later than 3 months after its 
issue. Any individual may apply for a basic check and the certificate will disclose any 
unspent convictions recorded on the Police National Computer (PNC). 

4.5 Consideration will be given to whether an applicant or licence holder with a 
conviction for offences provided in Appendix B to this document, other than those 
relating to driving, meet the ‘fit and proper’ threshold. 

4.6 If an individual holds a valid Taxi or Private Hire driver licence with South Somerset 
District Council and the DBS twice-yearly checks are up to date and acceptable then 
no additional check will need to be provided should they apply for a vehicle licence. 

4.7 A refusal to license an individual as a driver or to suspend or revoke a driver licence 
does not automatically mean that that individual cannot be issued or continue to hold 
an operator licence; these decisions will be made independent of a driver licence 
refusal and based on the appropriate information i.e. it should not consider information 
that would only be available via an enhanced DBS check but instead that which would 
be disclosed on a basic check. 

4.8 Private Hire Operators will require a basic DBS check. If the proprietor of a Private 
Hire Operator Licence also holds a Hackney or Private Hire vehicle driver licence with 
South Somerset District Council, the DBS check carried out as part of that licensing 
process may be used. 
 
4.9 It is noted that staff employed by an Operator to take bookings or as a vehicle 
dispatcher deciding which driver to send to a user, are in a position that could be 
exploited by those seeking to exploit children and vulnerable adults. It is therefore 
appropriate that all staff that have contact with private hire vehicle users and the 

Page 45



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 28 of 69 
 

dispatching of vehicles should not present an undue risk to the public or the 
safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults. 
 

4.10 Licensing authorities should be satisfied that private hire vehicle operators can 
demonstrate that all staff that have contact with the public and/or oversee the 
dispatching of vehicles do not pose a risk to the public. The Licensing Authority, as a 
condition of granting an operator licence, require a register of all staff that will take 
bookings or dispatch vehicles to be kept. 

4.11 Operators will be required to evidence that they have had sight of a Basic DBS 
check on all individuals listed on their register of booking and dispatch staff and to 
ensure that Basic DBS checks are conducted on any individuals added to the register 
and that this is compatible with their policy on employing ex-offenders. DBS certificates 
provided by the individual should be recently issued when viewed, alternatively the 
operator could use a ‘responsible organisation’ to request the check on their behalf. 
When individuals start taking bookings and dispatching vehicles for an operator they 
should be required, as part of their employment contract, to advise the operator of any 
convictions while they are employed in this role. 

4.12 The register should be a ‘living document’ that maintains records of all those in 
these roles for the same duration as booking records are required to be kept, this will 
enable cross-referencing between the two records. A record that the operator has had 
sight of a basic DBS check certificate (although the certificate itself should not be 
retained) should be retained for the duration that the individual remains on the register. 
Should an employee cease to be on the register and later re-entered, a new basic 
DBS certificate should be requested and sight of this recorded. 

4.13 Operators may outsource booking and dispatch functions but they cannot pass 
on the obligation to protect children and vulnerable adults. Operators should be 
required to evidence that comparable protections are applied by the company to which 
they outsource these function  

4.14 Operators or applicants for a licence will be required to provide their policy on 
employing ex-offenders in roles that would be on the register as above. As with the 
threshold to obtaining a private hire vehicle operators’ licence, those with a conviction 
for offences provided in the annex to this document (Appendix B), other than those 
relating to driving, may not be suitable to decide who is sent to carry a child or 
vulnerable adult unaccompanied in a car. 

Record Keeping 

4.15 Section 56 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
requires private hire vehicle operators to keep records of the particulars of every 
booking invited or accepted, whether it is from the passenger or at the request of 
another operator. 
 
4.16 The record keeping requirements are set out in the private hire operator 
conditions which are in Appendix I and will be attached to licences.  

Page 46

https://www.gov.uk/dbs-check-applicant-criminal-record/get-a-basic-dbs-check-for-an-employee


Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 29 of 69 
 

4.17 This information will enable the passenger to be traced if this becomes necessary 
and should improve driver security and facilitate enforcement. It is suggested that 
booking records should be retained for a minimum of six months.  

4.18 Private hire vehicle operators have a duty under data protection legislation to 
protect the information they record. The Information Commissioner’s Office provides 
comprehensive on-line guidance on registering as a data controller and how to meet 
their obligations  

 
Public Liability Insurance  
 
4.19 As private hire operators carry contractual responsibilities with their customers 
(e.g. to ensure that vehicles are punctual and get passengers to the airport on time 
etc) and may provide facilities to the general public as part of their daily business (e.g. 
waiting rooms, toilets etc at the taxi office), the Licensing Authority will, where 
appropriate, require applicant’s to provide and maintain a suitable policy of public 
liability insurance. Such insurance must adequately cover any damage, loss or injury 
to any third party (e.g. customers and other members of the public) or property that 
may arise during the course of an operators business and day to day activities. For 
further details see pp 5.146.  
 
Use of passenger carrying vehicles (PCV) licensed drivers 
 
4.20 PCV licensed drivers are subject to different checks from taxi and private hire 
vehicle licensed drivers as the work normally undertaken, i.e. driving a bus, does not 
present the same risk to passengers. Members of the public are entitled to expect 
when making a booking with a private hire vehicle operator that they will receive a 
private hire vehicle licensed vehicle and driver.  
 
4.21 The use of a driver who holds a PCV licence and the use of a public service 
vehicle (PSV) such as a minibus to undertake a private hire vehicle booking should 
not be permitted as a condition of the private hire vehicle operator’s licence without 
the informed consent of the booker. 
 
4.22 Where a private hire vehicle is unsuitable, for example where a larger vehicle is 
needed because more than eight passenger seats required or to accommodate 
luggage, the booker should be informed that a PSV is necessary, and that a PCV 
licenced driver will be used who is subject to different checks and not required to have 
an enhanced DBS check. 
 
 
Conditions 
 
The standard conditions are contained in Appendix I. 
 
Plate Exemption 
 
4.23 Applications will be considered for the dispensation from the requirement to 
display plates on a Private Hire vehicle.  These will not be issued as a matter of course 

Page 47



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 30 of 69 
 

and each application will be considered on its own merits. The overriding consideration 
is for public safety – the clear identification of a licensed vehicle is considered a safety 
aspect, particularly when visiting such places as Airports and the centres of large 
towns. 
 
4.24 In determining such an application, the status of the passenger and the executive 
nature of the work is likely to indicate whether a dispensation will be granted or not. 
 
4.25 The Licensing Authority requirements in relation to dispensation from displaying 
plates are shown at Appendix J 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 31 of 69 
 

5.0 General Arrangements 
 
Licence Applications 
 
5.1 An application for a vehicle, driver or operator’s licence will be made on the 
specified application form issued by the Licensing Authority.  
 
5.2 Applications will not be processed unless all the required documentation is 
produced and the licence fees have been paid. 
 
5.3 It is the responsibility of the individual licensee to renew an existing licence and 
the absence of a reminder letter will not discharge the licensee of his/her individual 
responsibility. 
 
5.4 Application forms, appropriate fees, and supporting documentation should be 
submitted in sufficient time to allow processing of the application. It is recommended 
that applications are made at least at least 28 days prior to the expiry of the previous 
licence. 
 
5.5 A licence that is not renewed by its expiry date will be deemed to have not been 
renewed and a fresh application for a new licence will be required, unless exceptional 
circumstances can be demonstrated to the Licensing Authority. 
 
5.6 Applications will not normally be entertained from persons who have had any 
licence revoked either by South Somerset Council or another Local Authority 
previously. The NR3 register will be consulted for revocations in other Local Authority 
areas. 
 
Delegation of Functions  
 
5.7 In the interests of speed and efficiency the Licensing Authority will, where possible, 
delegate licensing decisions and functions to officers. Where the issue to be decided 
is in any way controversial then it may be referred to and decided by the relevant 
Licensing Committee or Sub-Committee. Within these general constraints, functions, 
responsibilities and access to confidential information will be delegated in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of delegation 
 
Training Decision Makers 
 
5.8 All individuals that determine whether a licence is issued will be required to 
undertake sufficient training in such matters as licensing procedures, natural justice, 
equalities, safeguarding and making difficult and potentially controversial decisions.  
 
5.9 All training will be formally recorded by the Licensing Authority with 
acknowledgment recorded from participants.  
 
Penalty Point Scheme 
 
5.10 The Licensing Authority operates a penalty point scheme contained in Appendix 
K. 
 

Page 49



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 32 of 69 
 

5.11 When it is determined that use of the penalty point scheme is appropriate, points 
will be issued in accordance with the policy.  
 
5.12 If a driver, vehicle licence holder or operator receives 12 points in any 12 month 
period the licensee will normally be asked to appear before the Licensing Committee.  
 
Whistleblowing 
 

5.13 Where there are concerns that policies are not being applied correctly, it is vital 
that these can be raised, investigated and remedial action taken if required. The 
Licensing Authority will have effective internal procedures in place for staff to raise 
concerns and for any concerns to be dealt with openly and fairly. 

 

5.14 The Local authority will ensure there is an effective ‘whistleblowing’ policy and 
that all staff are aware of it. 

Complaints 
 

5.15 The Licensing Authority will investigate complaints made against licenced drivers, 
vehicles, and operators, as well as those that are un-licenced. They will take action 
proportionate to the nature of the complaint, the evidence established, and any past 
history of similar matters related to the licence holder. Each complaint is looked at on 
a case by case basis and on its own merits. Complainants are encouraged to raise 
their concerns directly with the licensee in the first instance to try and establish a 
resolution. If the complainant is not satisfied with how their complaint has been 
investigated and handled, South Somerset District Councils formal complaints 
procedure will be followed. 

5.16 Complainants may be asked to provide a written statement confirming the details 
of an incident, and may be requested to attend licensing committee hearings, or court 
proceedings in serious cases. If a complainant is not willing to provide such 
information, they should make this clear from the outset and explain their reasons, as 
this may affect the weight attached to their evidence. 

 
Fixing of Hackney Carriage Fares 
 

5.17 The Council set the maximum level of fares and charges in respect of hackney 
carriages.  A driver may charge less than the maximum fare. The procedure for fixing 
fares is as follows: 

5.18 A request for a fare increase must be from a local trade organisation, rather than 
by either an individual, or a single company / business. The proposal will be considered 
at the next available Licensing Committee Meeting. If approved or amended, the 
Council will publish in a local newspaper, a notice setting out the proposed table of 
fares and specifying a period (not less than fourteen days) where objections to the 

Page 50



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 33 of 69 
 

proposed fares can be made from the general public or other sources. If the request 
is rejected at the committee, the matter is closed and cannot be challenged.  If a 
request for a fare increase is still to be pursued, a fresh revised request must be 
submitted to the Licensing Authority. The new request will be referred to the next 
available licensing committee for the matter to be reconsidered. 

5.19 If no objections are made, or they are all withdrawn, proposed fares will begin on 
a date set by the Committee. If relevant objections are made and not withdrawn, they 
will be referred back to the next Licensing Committee meeting for consideration.   

Un-notified inspections (all licence holders) 
 

5.20 The Council, to discharge its role as the Licensing Authority, reserves the right to 
carry out routine and unannounced inspections of individuals, vehicles, businesses 
and operators to ensure compliance with the relevant legislation where it feels 
appropriate. 

 
Suspensions, Revocations & Refusals 
 

5.21 The Licensing Authority may suspend, revoke or refuse a licence, on any of the 
following grounds: 

5.22 The licence holder has been convicted of an offence, or fails to comply with any 
of the provisions of, the Town Police Clauses Act, 1847 or Part II of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976; (all licence Holders) 

Convicted of an offence involving dishonesty, indecency or violence (drivers & 
operators) 

If disqualified from driving, the licence shall be automatically revoked (drivers). 

If their conduct appears to render them not suitable to hold a licence (operators) 

If their circumstances have significantly changed since the issue of the licence 
(operators) 

That the vehicle is unfit for use as a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle (vehicle). 

Failure to comply with any condition of a licence or requirement of this policy.  

Any other reasonable cause (all licence holders). 

5.23 Licensing Officers have delegated authority to immediately suspend any driver 
who fails to provide correct administrative documentation in support of their licence 
application, renewal or during the licensed period (for example, valid medicals, DBS 
results, DVLA records etc.), until the information is provided. Any vehicle licence may 
be suspended in the event that the licence holder fails to provide evidence of 
insurance, MOT etc. All licence holders must return their paper licence, any vehicle 
licence plates or identification badges to a licensing officer immediately upon 
suspension, revocation, or ceasing to be licenced.  

Page 51



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 34 of 69 
 

5.24 Any person who wilfully obstructs, fails to comply with, or fails to offer all 
reasonable assistance to, authorised officers or Police officers in pursuance of their 
duties relating to Part II of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, 
or the Town and Police Clauses Act 1847, shall be guilty of an offence.  

5.25 Where a driver licence is suspended or revoked and the company the individual 
works for is known; the company will be informed of the suspension or revocation.  

Appeals against Suspensions, Revocations & Refusals 
  

5.26 The Council will (usually within 5 working days) give reasons in writing why the 
licence has been suspended, revoked or refused. Full details of how to appeal against 
the decision will be issued in this communication. Appeals must be made to the 
Magistrates court, and can only relate to the decision, or any conditions imposed. The 
appeal must be within 21 calendar days of the date of the notification letter. If 
appealed, then the licence remains operational until the appeal is heard unless the 
original decision was on the grounds of public safety. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 35 of 69 
 

Appendix A Knowledge Test Policy 
 
 
An invigilator will be present during the test. If in their opinion the test has been 
conducted incorrectly, any results are void. The applicant may put questions to the 
invigilator before the test, but not during the test. The invigilator will not explain 
questions to the applicant during the test, as this could be considered giving that 
applicant an advantage. All questions will be provided in English only. No translators 
or interpreters are permitted during the test.  

The applicant must not bring any equipment that may help them with the test, such as 
mobile phones and books. Possessions must be handed to the invigilator before the 
start of the test. No one may sit with the applicant during the test. There will be no 
discussion with anyone during the test period, with the exception of the invigilator 
regarding any technical issues such as equipment failure.  

Anyone who is considered to be cheating at the discretion of the invigilator, whether 
this is proved to be correct or otherwise, will have their test cancelled, and waive their 
right to further attempts at the test, thus not permitting them to reapply for a licence for 
12 months as mentioned above. Anyone who feels they have been treated unfairly 
during their examination, must make written representation to the Lead Specialist 
Environment at South Somerset District Council. 

If the fire alarm goes off during a test, you should evacuate the building with the 
invigilator. You must remain with the invigilator at all times until the disruption is over. 
Where appropriate, you may need to make an appointment to retake the test at a 
future point.  
 
Should you need to leave the test room during the test (e.g. to use the toilet), you must 
ask the invigilator. The invigilator may accompany the applicant to ensure that the test 
is conducted in accordance with test rules and policy.  
 
If you feel unwell and/or too ill to continue the test, please tell the invigilator. Where 
appropriate, you may need to make an appointment to retake the test at a future point.  
 
If you feel aggrieved by the results of your test or believe that the results of your test are 
incorrect, you should direct your concerns or enquires (in writing) to Lead Specialist 
Environment, South Somerset District Council, Council Offices, Brympton Way, Yeovil, 
Somerset BA20 2HT.  
Cancellation of Test 

Knowledge test fees are non-refundable and tests are not transferrable. 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 36 of 69 
 

Appendix B Criminal and Motoring Convictions Policy 
 

Legislation specifically identifies offences involving dishonesty, indecency or violence 
as a concern when assessing whether an individual is ‘fit and proper’ to hold a taxi or 
private hire vehicle licence. The following recommendations to licensing authorities on 
previous convictions reflect this.  
Each case shall be considered on its own merits, and applicants/licensees will 
be given fair and impartial consideration of their application.  
 
Where a period is given below, it should be taken to be a minimum in considering 
whether a licence should be granted or renewed in most cases. This places passenger 
safety as the priority while enabling past offenders to sufficiently evidence that they 
have been successfully rehabilitated so that they might obtain or retain a licence.  
 
This policy applies to existing licensed drivers and new applicants.  
 
Crimes resulting in death 
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime which resulted in the 
death of another person or was intended to cause the death or serious injury of another 
person they will not be licensed. 
 
Exploitation 
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime involving, related to, or 
has any connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another individual 
irrespective of whether the victim or victims were adults or children, they will not be 
licensed. This includes slavery, child sexual exploitation, grooming, psychological, 
emotional or financial abuse, but this is not an exhaustive list. 
 
Offences involving violence 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence, or connected with any 
offence of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed 
since the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
Possession of a weapon 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other weapon 
related offence, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since 
the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
Sex and indecency offences 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected with illegal 
sexual activity or any form of indecency, a licence will not be granted. In addition to 
the above, the Licensing Authority will not grant a licence to any applicant who is 
currently on the Sex Offenders Register or on any ‘barred’ list. 
 
Dishonesty 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence of dishonesty, or any offence 
where dishonesty is an element of the offence, a licence will not be granted until at 
least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 

Page 54



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 37 of 69 
 

Drugs 
Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of drugs, or 
possession with intent to supply or connected with possession with intent to supply, 
a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the 
possession of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have elapsed 
since the completion of any sentence imposed. In these circumstances, any 
applicant will also have to undergo drugs testing at their own expense to 
demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs. 
 
Discrimination 
Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination in any 
form, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
Motoring convictions 
Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the 
responsibility of carrying the public. Any motoring conviction demonstrates a lack of 
professionalism and will be considered seriously. It is accepted that offences can be 
committed unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not 
prohibit the grant of a licence or may not result in action against an existing licence. 
Subsequent convictions reinforce the fact that the licensee does not take their 
professional responsibilities seriously and is therefore not a safe and 
suitable person to be granted or retain a licence. 
 
Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs/using a hand‐held telephone 
or hand held device whilst driving 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the influence of 
drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed. In these circumstances, any 
applicant will also have to undergo drugs testing at their own expense to demonstrate 
that they are not using controlled drugs. 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for using a held‐hand mobile telephone or a 
hand‐held device whilst driving, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have 
elapsed since the conviction or completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, 
whichever is the later. 
 
Other motoring offences 
A minor traffic or vehicle related offence is one which does not involve loss of life, 
driving under the influence of drink or drugs, driving whilst using a mobile phone, and 
has not resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property (including vehicles). 
Where an applicant has 7 or more points on their DVLA licence for minor traffic or 
similar offences, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have elapsed since 
the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 

Page 55



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 38 of 69 
 

A major traffic or vehicle related offence is one which is not covered above and also 
any offence which resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property (including 
vehicles). It also includes driving without insurance or any offence connected with 
motor insurance. Where an applicant has a conviction for a major traffic offence or 
similar offence, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since 
the completion of any sentence imposed. 
 
Hackney carriage and private hire offences 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence concerned with or connected to 
hackney carriage or private hire activity (excluding vehicle use), a licence will not be 
granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed. 
 
Vehicle use offences 
 Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence which involved the use of a 
vehicle (including hackney carriages and private hire vehicles), a licence will not be 
granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence 
imposed. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 56



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 39 of 69 
 

Appendix C Standard conditions for private hire drivers 

  
(a) You must ensure that one of your badges is worn on the upper half of the body and 
is clearly visible to the public at all times. The second issued badge must be displayed 
on the dashboard of the vehicle in the docudash provided 

(b) If a member of the public asks for your licence details, you must give them your 
name and badge number.  

(c) You must, so far as is reasonably practicable, ensure safety of and provide 
reasonable assistance to your passengers at all times, especially when entering and 
exiting the vehicle.  

(d) You must provide reasonable assistance to passenger(s) loading/unloading 
luggage and personal belongings from the vehicle.  

(e) You must not carry more passengers than stated on the vehicle plate and licence.  

(f) During a hiring, you may only carry fare-paying passengers (including luggage and 
personal property); trainee-driver’s (who have been suitably authorised by South 
Somerset District Council); and guide/assistance dogs (which must be carried free of 
charge).  

(g) You must ensure that any certificates exempting you from the carriage of 
assistance dogs, the handling of heavy loads / wheelchairs / luggage etc are clearly 
displayed in the vehicle and where appropriate, made available to passengers on 
request.  

(h) You must be dressed in an appropriate, clean, presentable and safe manner at all 
times. 

(i) You must act in a polite, civil and orderly manner at all times.  

(j) Where reasonably practicable, you must attend bookings in a prompt and punctual 
manner.  

(k) You must check the vehicle regularly for personal belongings left behind by 
passengers and, where appropriate, return them immediately to the owner or to the 
local police station.  

(l) Where the fare is calculated by taximeter, you must ensure the journey is completed 
via the most direct/shortest route possible, with no prolongation, unless directed by or 
otherwise agreed with the passenger.  

(m) You must not ply for hire nor allow anyone to do this on your behalf.  

(n) You must provide a suitable receipt to passengers on request.  

(o) You must ensure that all seat belts fitted for the use of the passengers in the vehicle 
are in working order, available and accessible to passengers at all times.  

Page 57



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 40 of 69 
 

(p) Where the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter and where engaged, you must ensure 
that you do not start the taximeter until the commencement of the hiring of the vehicle.  

(q) You must ensure that any passenger carried in a wheelchair is secured by the use 
of appropriate anchorages.  

(r) You must obtain permission of the vehicle proprietor before driving any licensed 
private hire vehicle or otherwise allowing someone else to do so.  

(s) You must only carry out bookings taken by a private hire operator licensed by South 
Somerset District Council.  

(t) You must maintain a suitable policy of public liability insurance that adequately 
covers any damage, loss or injury to any third party (e.g. customers and other 
members of the public) or property that may arise during the course of your day to day 
private hire activities, to a minimum of £5million.  

(u) You must notify the Licensing Authority within 48 hours if you are subject to arrest, 
conviction, charge, release, caution, driving endorsement/disqualification or know of 
any cases pending against you (whether in the UK or abroad).  

(v) You must notify the Licensing Authority within 3 working days if there is a change 
in your medical circumstances that may affect your fitness or ability to drive or carry 
out the duties of a private hire driver (including carriage of assistance dogs, the 
handling of heavy loads, wheelchair passengers, luggage etc).  

(w) You must notify the Licensing Authority of any change to your personal details 
including name, address and/or telephone number within 5 working days.  

(x) You must notify the Licensing Authority of any changes to the licensed private hire 
operator that you are receiving bookings from, as soon as is reasonably practicable.  

(y) You must notify the Licensing Authority as soon as is reasonably practicable, and 
in any case within 3 working days, of any accident, causing damage to the vehicle that 
affects the safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle, or the comfort or 
convenience of passengers.  

(z) You must familiarise yourself with the law, conditions and other requirements 
applicable to the licensed vehicles you drive.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 41 of 69 
 

Appendix D Hackney Carriage Byelaws 
 

SOUTH SOMERSET DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

BYELAWS 

With respect to 

HACKNEY CARRIAGES IN THE DISTRICT OF 
SOUTH 

SOMERSET 

SECTION 68 

TOWN POLICE CLAUSES ACT 1847 

SECTION 171 

PUBLIC HEALTH ACT 1875 

SOUTH SOMERSET DISTRICT COUNCIL 

HACKNEY CARRIAGES 

BYELAWS made under section 68 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, and section 171 of 
the Public Health Act 1875, by South Somerset District Council with respect to hackney 
carriages in the district of South Somerset. 

Interpretation 

1 . Throughout these byelaws "the Council" means South Somerset District 
Council and "the district" means South Somerset. 

Provisions regulating the manner in which the number of each hackney carriage 
corresponding with the number of its licence shall be displayed 

Page 59



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 42 of 69 
 

2. (a) The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause the number of the 
licence granted to him in respect of the carriage to be legibly painted or marked 
on the outside and inside of the carriage, or on plates affixed thereto. 

 (b) A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall: - 

not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer any such number to be concealed 
from public view while the carriage is standing or plying for hire; and not 
cause or permit the carriage to stand or ply for hire with any such painting 
marking or plate so defaced that any figure or material particular is iltegible. 

Provisions regulating how hackney carriages are to be furnished or provided 

3. The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall: - 

(a) provide sufficient means by which any person in the carriage may 
communicate with the driver; 

(b) cause the roof or covering to be kept water-tight; 
(c) provide any necessary windows and a means of opening and closing not less 

than one window on each side; 
(d) cause the seats to be properly cushioned or covered; cause the floor to be 

provided with a proper carpet, mat or other suitable covering; cause the 
fittings and furniture generally to be kept in a clean condition, well maintained 
and in every way fit for public service; provide means for securing luggage 
if the carriage is so constructed as to carry luggage; 

(h) provide an efficient fire extinguisher (which conforms to the specification of the 
Licensing Authority) which shall be carried in such a position as to be readily available 
for use; and provide at least two doors for the use of persons conveyed in such 
carriage and a separate means of ingress and egress for the driver. 

4. The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause the same to be provided with a 
taximeter so constructed, attached and maintained as to comply with the following 
requirements, that is to say :- 

(a) the taximeter shall be fitted with a key, flag or other device the turning of which 
will bring the machinery of the taximeter into action and cause the word 
"HIRED" to appear on the face of the taximeter; 

(b) such key, flag or other device shall be capable of being locked in such a 
position that the machinery of the taximeter is not in action and that no fare is 
recorded on the face of the taximeter; 

(c) when the machinery of the taximeter is in action there shall be recorded on the 
face of the taximeter in clearly legible figures, a fare not exceeding the rate or 
fare which the proprietor or driver is entitled to demand and take for the hire of 
the carriage by time as well as for distance in pursuance of the tariff fixed by 
the Council; the word "FARE" shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in 
plain letters so as clearly to apply to the fare recorded thereon; 

(e) the taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof 
are at all times plainly visible to any person being conveyed in the carriage, and for 
that purpose the letters and figures shall be capable of being suitably illuminated 
during any period of hiring; and the taximeter and all the fittings thereof shall be so 
affixed to the carriage with seals or other appliances that it shall not be practicable for 
any person to tamper with them except by breaking, damaging or permanently 
displacing the seals or other appliances. 

Page 60



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 43 of 69 
 

Provisions regulating the conduct of the proprietors and drivers of hackney carriages plying 
within the district in their several employments, and determining whether such drivers shall 
wear any and what badges 

5. The driver of a hackney carriage provided with a taximeter shall: - 

when standing or plying for hire, keep the key, flag or other device fitted in 
pursuance of the byelaw in that behalf locked in the position in which no fare is 
recorded on the face of the taximeter; 

(b) before beginning a journey for which a fare is charged for distance and time, 
bring the machinery of the taximeter into action by moving the said key, flag or 
other device so that the word "HIRED" is legible on the face of the taximeter 
and keep the machinery of the taximeter in action unti} the termination of the 
hiring; and 

(c) cause the dial of the taximeter to be kept properly illuminated throughout any 
part of a hiring which is between half-an-hour after sunset and half-an-hour 
before sunrise, and also at any other time at the request of the hirer. 

6. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not tamper with or permit  any person 
to tamper with any taximeter with which the carriage is provided, with the fittings 
thereof, or with the seals affixed thereto. 

7. The driver of a hackney carriage shall, when plying for hire in any street and not 
actually hired: - 

(a) proceed with reasonable speed to one of the stands appointed by the Council; if 
a stand, at the time of his arrival, is occupied by the full number of carriages authorised 
to occupy it, proceed to another stand; 

(c) on arriving at a stand not already occupied by the full number of carriages 
authorised to occupy it* station the carriage immediately behind the carriage or 
carriages on the stand and so as to face in the same direction; and from time to 
time, when any other carriage immediately in front is driven off or moved forward cause 
his carriage to be moved forward so as to fill the place previously occupied by the 
carriage driven off or moved forward. 

8. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage, when standing or plying for hire, shall not 
make use of the services of any other person for the purpose of importuning any 
person to hire such carriage. 

9. The driver of a hackney carriage shall behave in a civil and orderly manner and shall 
take all reasonable precautions to ensure the safety of persons conveyed in or 
entering or alighting from the vehicle. 

10. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage who has agreed or has been hired to be 
in attendance with the carriage at an appointed time and place shall, unless delayed 
or prevented by some sufficient cause, punctually attend with such carriage at such 
appointed time and place. 

11 . A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not convey or permit to be  conveyed in 
such carriage any greater number of persons than the number of persons specified on 
the plate affixed to the outside of the carriage. 

Page 61



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 44 of 69 
 

12. If a badge has been provided by the Council and delivered to the driver of a hackney 
carriage he shall, when standing or plying for hire, and when hired, wear that badge in 
such position and manner as to be plainly visible. 

13. The driver of a hackney carriage so constructed as to carry luggage shall, when requested 
by any person hiring or seeking to hire the carriage: - 

(a) convey a reasonable quantity of luggage; 
(b) afford reasonable assistance in loading and unloading; and 
(c) afford reasonable assistance in removing it to or from the entrance of any 

building, station or place at which he may take up or set down such person. 

Provisions fixing the rates or fares to be paid for hackney carriages within the district and 
securing the due publication of such fares 

14. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall be entitled to demand and take for the 
hire of the carriage the rate or fare prescribed by the Council, the rate or fare 
being calculated by a combination of distance and time unless the hirer express 
at the commencement of the hiring his desire to engage by time. 

(ii) Where a hackney carriage furnished with a taximeter is hired by distance and time 
the proprietor or driver thereof shall not be entitled to demand and take a fare 
greater than that recorded on the taximeter, save for any extra charges 
authorised by the Council which it may not be possible to record on the face of 
the taximeter. 

15. The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause a statement of the fares fixed by council 
resolution to be exhibited inside the carriage, in clearly distinguishable letters 
and figures. 

The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage bearing a statement of fares in 
accordance with this byelaw shall not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer the 
letters or figures in the statement to be concealed or rendered illegible at any 
time while the carriage is plying or being used for hire. 

Provisions securing the safe custody and re-delivery of any property accidentally left in 
hackney carriages, and fixing the charges to be made in respect thereof 

1 6. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall immediately after the termination of 
any hiring, or as soon as practicable thereafter, carefully search the carriage for any 
property which may have been accidentally left therein. 

17. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, if any property accidentally left therein 
by any person who may have been conveyed in the carriage be found by or handed to 
him: - 

(a) carry it as soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours if not sooner 
claimed by or on behalf of its owner, to a police station in the District and leave 
it in the custody of the officer in charge of the station on his giving a receipt for 
it; and 

Page 62



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 45 of 69 
 

(b) be entitled to receive from any person to whom the property shall be re-
delivered an amount equal to five pence in the pound of its estimated value (or 
the fare for the distance from the place of finding to the police station, 
whichever be the greater) but not more than five pounds. 

Penalties 

1 8. Every person who shall offend against any of these byelaws shall be liable on summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding Level 2 on the Standard Scale and in the case of a 
continuing offence to a fine not exceeding two pounds for each day during which the 
offence continues after conviction therfore 

Repeal of Byelaws 

19. The byelaws relating to hackney carriages which were made by South 
Somerset District Council on the 31 st day of January 1986 and the 12th day of 
December 1986 and which were confirmed by the Secretary of State for Transport on 
the 21 st day of April 1986 and the 23rd Day of February 1987 respectively are hereby 
repealed  

THE COMMON SEAL OF SOUTH 
SOMERSET DISTRICT COUNCIL was 
hereunto affixed this day of March 2006 in the 
presence of: 

ces Manager 

The foregoing byelaws hereby confirmed by the 

Seci9$ary of State and shall come into force on the 
200...... 

Signed by authority of the  

Dem

Page 63



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 46 of 69 
 

Appendix E Requirements for Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Vehicles 
 
Vehicle Specifications and requirements 

 

All vehicles must be right-hand drive, but vehicles which are exclusively manufactured 
as left hand drive vehicles are permitted.   

All saloons, estates or purpose-built taxi vehicles shall have at least 4 side-opening 
doors, which may be opened from the inside and the outside.  

Minibuses, transits and people carrier type vehicles shall have at least 3 doors not 
including any tailgate or rear doors (current licensed vehicles are exempt from this 
requirement)  

The Licensed vehicle must comply in all respects with:  

 

(a) Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 

(a) The requirements of the Motor Vehicle (Type Approval) Regulations 1980;  

(b) Motor Vehicle (Type Approval) (Great Britain) Regulations 1984  

 

In addition, the licensed vehicle must comply in all respects with British and European 
vehicle regulations and be "type approved" to the requirements of the M1 or M1 (low 
volume) category of the European Whole Type Approval Directive 70/156/EEC, as 
amended.  

 
Imported vehicles that cannot meet the requirements of 2 above will need to have 
been approved under the Individual Vehicle Approval Scheme (IVA) verifying that the 
vehicle is built to certain safety and environmental standards and has the appropriate 
documentation confirming this.  

 
If the vehicle has been converted to run on liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) then a 
certificate issued by a member of the LPG Association will be required by the Licensing 
Authority to confirm satisfactory installation, examination and testing of the vehicle 
has been carried out in accordance with the LPG Associations Code of Practice. 

 
Requirements for Minibus and MPV Style Vehicles  

In respect of Minibus and MPV style vehicles with effect from the commencement of 
this policy.  

Page 64



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 47 of 69 
 

1) A minimum of three doors to the passenger accommodation shall be provided. 

2) Have proper signs on how to lift the second row of seats. The sign should be 
clearly visible to any persons seated in the rearmost seats providing customers 
with instructions on the operating mechanisms for the seat that may be 
required to be tipped/moved forward in order to gain access/egress from the 
vehicle. 

3) The operating levers to be coloured yellow/orange so that they are easily 
identifiable. They can be coloured by using the appropriate colour tape. Tape 
should remain damage free at all times and replaced when worn. These 
colours comply with national health and safety standards. 

4) Have well positioned exit window signs (where appropriate). 

5) Have an internal device for the rear hatch door to be opened from the inside. 
This can be by way of an emergency ‘quick release’ button which can be fitted 
to the rear hatch door which can be operated by passengers in order to allow 
access/egress in the event of an accident and one of the side passenger doors 
being inaccessible. 

6) Points 1 to 5 do not apply to vehicles currently licenced at the commencement 
of this policy. They will be exempt for the life of their licence. Vehicles with 
conference style seating, or purpose built wheelchair accessible vehicles are 
however still required to ensure that passengers have unobstructed entry and 
exit from the rear row of seating, and no one should have to remove or 
dismantle a seat or obstacle, or climb over anyone or anything to access them. 

7) Vehicles licenced prior to the commencement of this policy should retain their 
existing seat configuration. If operators which to change the seat configuration 
of the vehicle (e.g. installing seats previously removed), this will bring the 
vehicle in line with the new policy, and will have to comply with points 1 to 5 
above. 

8) All vehicles that are licenced by South Somerset District Council for the first 
time (or a vehicle that is re-licenced after a break) after the commencement of 
this policy, must comply with points 1-5. This also applies to hire company or 
insurance vehicles operated by the proprietor while their vehicle is undergoing 
repair. 

Accessibility 

In the case of all Hackney vehicles, which are built or adapted for disabled passengers, 
the design of the vehicle should ensure that any wheelchair is loaded from the side or 
rear of the vehicle.  
 
Where a vehicle is utilised for the Carriage of passengers in a wheelchair, the following 
conditions shall apply:  

 
(a)  Access to and exit from the wheelchair position must not be obstructed in any 
manner at any time except by wheelchair loading apparatus.  

Page 65



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 48 of 69 
 

(b) Wheelchair internal anchorage must be of the manufacturer’s design and 
construction and secured in such a position as not to obstruct any emergency exit.  
(c) A suitable restraint must be available for the occupant of a wheelchair.  
(d) Access ramps or lifts to the vehicle must be securely fixed prior to use, and be able 
to support the wheelchair, occupant and helper.  
(e) Ramps and lifts must be securely stored in the vehicle before it may move off.  
 
Any equipment fitted to the vehicle for lifting a wheelchair into the vehicle must comply 
with the requirements of the Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 
1998 (S.I. 1998/2307). Any such equipment must be maintained in good working 
order, tested  at the required intervals and be available for use at all times. 
 
The Equality Act 2010 seeks to place duties on drivers of wheelchair accessible 
vehicles. The duties will apply to the driver of any wheelchair accessible vehicle which 
is on the Authority’s list of “Designated Vehicles”. 

The duties are as follows:  
• to carry the passenger whilst in a wheelchair not to make any additional 

charge for doing so  
• if the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat, to have capacity to 

carry the wheelchair also to take such steps as are necessary to ensure 
that the passenger is carried in safe and reasonable comfort;  

• and to give the passenger such mobility assistance, as is reasonably 
required. the driver must also offer to load the passenger’s luggage into 
and out of the vehicle. 

 
A vehicle should only be included in the Council’s list if it would be possible for the 
user of a wheelchair to enter, leave and travel in the passenger compartment in safety 
and reasonable comfort whilst seated in their wheelchair. 
 

 
Trailers 
 
Trailers may be used subject to the following requirements:  

 
(a)  Trailers can only be used in connection with Private Hire bookings and cannot be used for 

plying for Hire on a rank;  
(b) The trailer must at all times comply with all requirements of Road Traffic legislation in 

particular those as laid down in the Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 
1986;  
(c) The vehicle insurance must include cover for towing a trailer;  
(d) Trailers must not be left unattended anywhere on the highway;  
(e) The speed restrictions applicable to trailers must be observed at all times;  
(f)  A suitable lid or other approved means of enclosure shall be fitted to secure and 
cover the contents of the trailer whenever in use. 

 

Page 66



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 49 of 69 
 

Appendix F Standard conditions for hackney carriage vehicles  
 

(a) You must ensure that the vehicle, including fittings and equipment, is well 
maintained, in good working order and kept clean at all times.  

(b) You must submit a Lufton pass certificate for the vehicle on the vehicle that is 
undertaken and dated between the dates specified below:  

(i) Between [DATE] and [DATE]  

 (c) You must ensure that wheelchair anchorages and ramps are kept in the vehicle 
and are maintained in good working order at all times.  

(d) You must ensure no more passengers than the number displayed on the licence 
plate are carried in the vehicle at any one time.  

(e) You must ensure that any material which is required by law, or on condition of your 
licence does not obscure visibility through any window, mirror, or the bulkhead.  

(f) You must ensure that no advertising, or any other material is displayed on any 
window, mirror or bulkhead, other than that which is required by law or on condition of 
licence.  

(g) Nothing shall be displayed on or in the vehicle advertising tobacco products, 
alcohol, contraceptives, sex shops, sex articles or sex-related products or services, 
gambling activities including betting, gaming and amusements (with or without prizes) 
or otherwise contain nudity. Furthermore no advertisement shall be displayed in 
relation to race, religion or anything that may reasonably be considered to be 
offensive. All advertising shall comply with the relevant code of advertising standards 
as issued by Advertising Standards Authority.  

(h) You must ensure that the licence plate is securely fixed to the rear of the vehicle, 
clearly visible, and maintained in good condition at all times.  

(i) You must ensure that at all times the interior licence plate is clearly visible to all 
passengers travelling in the vehicle.  

(j) You must ensure that a “TAXI” rooflight is fitted to the vehicle. The rooflight must be 
illuminated when available for hire and turned off when not available for hire and when 
travelling outside the district of South Somerset.  

(k) You must ensure that the vehicle is securely fitted with a suitable taximeter in a 
position that is clearly visible to passengers at all times. The taximeter must comply 
with the extant Measuring Instruments Directive.  

(l) You must ensure that the taximeter is programmed in accordance with the current 
scheme of fares set by South Somerset District Council.  

(m) Taximeter settings shall only be accessed, adjusted and/or (re)calibrated by an 
accredited taximeter agent.  

Page 67



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 50 of 69 
 

(n) You must ensure that the official current tariff chart issued by South Somerset 
District Council is available is clearly visible to passengers at all times.  

(o) You must ensure that the vehicle is only driven by hackney carriage drivers 
licensed by South Somerset District Council at any time. This includes when the 
vehicle is not being used as a taxi.  

(p) You must ensure that the vehicle complies with the council’s vehicle specification 
at all times and is maintained in accordance with the vehicle type approval.  

(q) You must notify the Licensing Authority as soon as is reasonably practicable, and 
in any case within 3 working days, of any accident, causing damage to the vehicle that 
affects the safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle, or the comfort or 
convenience of passengers.  

(r) You must keep a copy of the paper part of the hackney carriage driver’s licence of 
any driver you permit or employ to drive the vehicle.  

(s) You must ensure that a suitable certificate of insurance is provided to the Licensing 
Authority for each driver of your vehicle and ensure that it is suitably maintained.  

(t) You must ensure that the vehicle has a current MOT certificate and that a copy is 
provided to the Licensing Authority, or you inform the Licensing Authority when the 
MOT has been carried out (vehicles over one year old). 

(u) You must keep a written record of the dates and times that each driver is using 
your vehicle. This information must be provided to the Licensing Authority or police on 
request.  

(v) You must ensure that the Licensing Authority is notified of any changes to those 
driving your vehicle prior to them taking effect.  

(w) You must notify the Licensing Authority of any change of details of any person with 
a financial interest in the vehicle and ensure the vehicle licence is suitably updated as 
soon as is reasonably practicable.  

(x) You must notify the Licensing Authority of any change to your personal details 
including name, address and/or telephone number and ensure the vehicle licence is 
suitably updated as soon as is reasonably practicable but no later than 5 working days 
after the change takes place..  

(y) The transfer of the vehicle to a new proprietor must be notified to the Licensing 
Authority in the prescribed form within 5 working days.  

(z) You must ensure that all licence documents for the vehicle are maintained and up-
to-date at all times.  

(aa) You must notify the Licensing Authority if you no longer wish to hold the vehicle 
licence and you must, as soon as is reasonably practicable, ensure the internal and 
external licence plates are returned to South Somerset District Council or their agents. 

(bb) You must ensure that the vehicle is fitted with a fire extinguisher to the following 
standards 

Page 68



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 51 of 69 
 

• Of an approved type manufactured to BS-EN3 
• A minimum 1KG of  powder 
• Securely mounted with a bracket 
• Annually serviced to BS-5306-3 standards 
• A 12 month certificate of conformity from the date of service 
• A service record and an anti-tamper bag 
• If not visible, a label must be displayed giving its location 
• Include the registration number of the vehicle to which it is fitted. 

(cc) You must ensure that a first aid kit is carried in the vehicle.  

(dd) You must make all named drivers of the vehicle aware of the conditions of this 
licence by a mechanism in writing.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 69



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 52 of 69 
 

 

Appendix G Standard conditions for private hire vehicles  
(a) You must ensure that the vehicle, including fittings and equipment, is well 
maintained, in good working order and kept clean at all times.  

(b) You must submit a new a suitable Lufton test certificate for the vehicle that is 
undertaken and dated between the dates specified below:  

(i) Between [DATE] and [DATE]   

(c) You must ensure no more passengers than the number displayed on the licence 
plate are carried in the vehicle at any one time.  

(d) You must ensure that (where appropriate) wheelchair anchorages and ramps are 
kept in the vehicle and are maintained in good working order at all times, unless 
subject to our written exemption.  

(e) You must ensure that the licence plate is securely fixed to the rear of the vehicle, 
clearly visible, and maintained in good condition at all times.  

(f) You must ensure that at all times the interior licence plate is clearly visible to all 
passengers travelling in the vehicle.  

(g) You must ensure that the prescribed sign of specified design, size and shape 
stating ‘pre-booked only’ is displayed on an external door panel on each side of the 
vehicle.  

(h) You must ensure that no rooflight (or similar) is fitted to the vehicle.  

(i) You must ensure that no advertising is displayed on or within the vehicle.  

(j) You must ensure that the vehicle is only driven by private hire drivers licensed by 
South Somerset District Council at any time. This includes when the vehicle is not 
being used for hire and reward purposes.  

(k) You must ensure that this vehicle is used only for bookings taken by a private hire 
operator licensed by South Somerset District Council.  

(l) You must ensure that the vehicle complies with the council’s vehicle specification 
at all times and is maintained in accordance with the vehicle type approval.  

(m) You must notify the Licensing Authority as soon as is reasonably practicable, and 
in any case within 3 working days, of any accident, causing damage to the vehicle that 
affects the safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle, or the comfort or 
convenience of passengers.  

(n) You must keep a copy of the paper part of the private hire driver’s licence of any 
driver you permit or employ to drive the vehicle.  

(o) You must ensure that a suitable certificate of insurance is provided to the Licensing 
Authority for each driver of your vehicle and ensure that it is suitably maintained.  

Page 70



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 53 of 69 
 

(p) You must ensure that the vehicle has a current MOT certificate and that a copy is 
provided to the Licensing Authority, or you inform the Licensing Authority when the 
MOT has been carried out (vehicles over one year old). 

(q) You must ensure that the Licensing Authority is notified of any changes to those 
driving your vehicle prior to them taking effect.  

(r) You must keep a written record of the dates and times that each driver is using your 
vehicle. This information must be provided to the Licensing Authority or police on 
request.  

(s) You must notify the Licensing Authority of any change of details of any person with 
a financial interest in the vehicle and ensure the vehicle licence is suitably updated as 
soon as is reasonably practicable.  

(t) You must notify the Licensing Authority of any change to your personal details 
including name, address and/or telephone number and ensure the vehicle licence is 
suitably updated as soon as is reasonably practicable.  

(u) The transfer of the vehicle to a new proprietor must be notified to the Licensing 
Authority in the prescribed form within 5 working days.  

(v) You must ensure that all licence documents for the vehicle, are maintained and up-
to-date at all times.  

(x) You must notify the Licensing Authority if you no longer wish to hold the vehicle 
licence and you must, as soon as is reasonably practicable, ensure the internal, 
external and side plates (where appropriate) are returned to South Somerset District 
Council.  

(y) You must ensure that the vehicle is fitted with a fire extinguisher to the following 
standards 

• Of an approved type manufactured to BS-EN3 
• A minimum 1KG of  powder 
• Securely mounted with a bracket 
• Annually serviced to BS-5306-3 standards 
• A 12 month certificate of conformity from the date of service 
• A service record and an anti-tamper bag 
• If not visible, a label must be displayed giving its location 
• Include the registration number of the vehicle to which it is fitted. 

(z) You must ensure that a first aid kit is carried in the vehicle. 

(aa) You must make all named drivers of the vehicle aware of the conditions of this 
licence by a mechanism in writing.  

 

 

 

Page 71



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 54 of 69 
 

Appendix H CCTV systems 
 

All passengers must be made fully aware if CCTV is operating in a vehicle. Given that 
audio recording is considered to be more privacy intrusive, it is even more important 
that individuals are fully aware and limited only to occasions when passengers (or 
drivers) consider it necessary  
 
It is essential to ensure that all recordings made are secure and can only be accessed 
by those with legitimate grounds to do so  
 
Footage to be made available to police and licensing officers upon request. The 
subject of the footage is also entitled to view it. 
. 
The licensed proprietor/owner of the vehicle will have responsibility for the control and 
security of the images recorded on any system. They will be responsible for notifying 
the Information Commissioner’s Office that they are the data controller, not the 
Licensing Authority. 

Activation of the audio recording capability of a system might be instigated when either 
the passenger or driver operates a switch or button. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 72



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 55 of 69 
 

Appendix I Private Hire Operator Conditions 
Standard conditions for private hire operators  
 
(a) All bookings must be carried out by a vehicle and driver that are licensed by South 
Somerset District Council.  
 
(b) Bookings may only be sub-contracted between operators licensed by South 
Somerset District Council.  
 
(c) You must retain a copy of the private hire vehicle licence of any vehicles operated 
by you.  
 
(d) You must keep a copy of the paper part of the private hire driver’s licence of any 
driver you permit or employ to drive for you.  
 
(e) You must ensure that no person employed by you shall solicit, call out, or do 
anything else, which may lead anyone to believe that any licensed private hire vehicle 
is a licensed hackney carriage.  
 
(f) You shall not allow any private hire vehicle operated by you to stand or ply for hire.  
 
(g) Before any hiring commences, you must record and keep the following records 
which collectively are uniquely and consecutively numbered; namely -  
 
(i) the name of the hirer (i.e. the customer);  
 
(ii) the pick-up point;  
 
(iii) the destination;  
 
(iv) the date and time the private hire vehicle is required;  
 
(v) the date and time that the booking was made;  
 
(vi) the fare quoted for the journey;  
 
(vii) whether the booking is a sub-contracted booking from another operator and/or is 
to be sub-contracted to another operator. In the event that the booking is sub-
contracted it shall be evidenced that the operator has comparable policies in place to 
protect children and vulnerable adults;  
 
(viii) the name and address of any operator to which the booking may be sub-
contracted;  
 
(ix) how the booking was made (e.g. telephone, on-line etc);  
 
(x) the name of the licensed driver undertaking the hiring and the Council licence plate 
number of the vehicle used;  
 

Page 73



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 56 of 69 
 

(xi) the name of the person making the record.  
 
(h) You must provide access to the licensed premises at any reasonable time and 
produce for inspection any relevant records to the Licensing Authority or police on 
request. Records shall be kept for at least 12 months. 
 
(i) As soon as is reasonably practicable, but within 7 days you must notify the Licensing 
Authority of any change –  
 
(i) in company personnel (including company secretary, directors and/or partners in 
the business or similar); 
 
(ii) to the garaging arrangements of vehicles;  
 
(iii) to the vehicles you are operating;  
 
(iv) to the drivers carrying out bookings taken by you; and  
 
(v) to the personal details of any company personnel including name, address and/or 
telephone number.  
 
(j) You must notify the Licensing Authority within 48 hours if you or any company 
personnel (including company secretary, directors and/or partners in the business or 
similar) are subject to arrest, conviction, charge, caution, driving 
endorsement/disqualification or know of any cases pending against you (whether in 
the UK or abroad).  
 
(k) A register of all staff responsible for taking bookings and dispatching vehicles 
shall be kept and updated each time a member of staff leaves or starts work for 
the operator.  

(l) The Private Hire Operator shall ensure that each member of staff responsible 
for taking bookings and dispatching vehicles has a basic DBS check and has had 
sight of the results of the check. 

(m) The Private Hire Operator shall have a policy on the recruitment of ex-offenders 
in roles which involve the booking and dispatch of vehicles and that staff are 
recruited in accordance with this policy.  
 
(n) In the event that bookings are sub-contracted, the licence holder shall ensure 
or put measures in place to ensure that the Operator the bookings are being sub-
contracted to have policies in place. 
 
(o) A Public Service Vehicle such as a minibus shall not be used without the 
informed consent of the person making the booking. 
 
(p) The licence holder must provide an annual basic disclosure and this shall be 
provided no later than 3 months after the date of issue of the disclosure certificate. 
 

Page 74



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 57 of 69 
 

(r) The Licensee shall keep clean and in good state of decoration and repair, 
adequately heated, ventilated and lit any premises which they provide and to which 
the public have access whether for the purpose of booking of waiting; shall ensure that 
the waiting area has adequate seating facilities and that such facilities and any other 
furnishings provided are in good state of repair and shall ensure the appropriate fire 
precautionary equipment is provided, properly maintained and kept in an accessible 
location 

  
(s) The Licensed Operator is to be directly concerned in the day to day management 
of the business and is to ensure that all conditions listed above are adhered to. 

 

(t). The Council reserve the right to vary any of these conditions. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 75



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 58 of 69 
 

Appendix J Exemption from requirement to display Vehicle 
Identification. 
 
1. The aim is to ensure public safety whilst taking a balanced approach to 

licensing requirements. The objective is the provision of an exemption to allow 
‘executive vehicles’ to operate without displaying external identification plates. 

 
2.  Introduction 
 
2.1  The displaying of the external identification plate on a licensed vehicle and a 

driver’s badge is important in terms of public safety and reassurance. They 
indicate to the travelling public that prior to being licensed both the vehicle and 
the driver have been subjected to checks to ensure their (the public’s) safety. 
The visible licence number of the vehicle and driver affords members of the 
public and other persons such as the Police traceability via the local Licensing 
Authority. 

 
2.2  The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 requires that 

Private Hire vehicles display an identification plate and drivers of those vehicles 
wear a driver’s badge. The same legislation also allows South Somerset District 
Council  to exempt vehicles from the need to display an identification plate and, 
where that exemption applies, the requirement to wear a Private Hire Driver 
badge. 

 
3.  Details 
 
3.1  Exemptions from displaying identification plates may be granted in respect of 

individual vehicles only and based upon evidence based need. Applications for 
exemptions relating to a fleet of vehicles will not be allowed. 

 
3.2  Each application will be assessed on its own merit. 
 
3.3 Applications for exemption from the requirement to display identification plates 

may be considered where the following requirements are met; 
a) Vehicles must be of a standard of comfort and equipped to a level 
higher than that of a ‘standard’ Private Hire Vehicle. It is not intended to 
form a prescriptive list of acceptable vehicles because this may be 
subjective and require frequent update. 

 
Relevant considerations as to whether a vehicle meets this standard 
include but are not limited to cost, reputation, specification, appearance, 
perception, superior comfort levels and seating specification i.e. whether 
the vehicle offers additional space per passenger opposed to standard 
vehicles. 
 
b) The vehicle will be in pristine condition with no visible defects, dents 
or blemishes to the external bodywork or internal trim and seating. 
Interior seating will usually be leather and the cabin air conditioned to 
maintain passenger comfort. 

Page 76



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 59 of 69 
 

 
c) The type of work undertaken is ‘executive’ in nature. There must be a 
demonstrable need for an exemption to apply rather than a one-off 
contract. The type of work that may be considered ‘executive’ may 
include: 
 

• Corporate bookings to transport employees and clients on 
business related journeys 

• Other journeys where the client specifically requires a vehicle 
without any Private Hire plates or signage on it at the time of 
booking 

• Bookings for clients (for example politicians and celebrities) who 
for security or personal safety reasons would not want the vehicle 
to be identifiable as a Private Hire vehicle. 

• The percentage of ‘executive’ work undertaken by the vehicle 
must constitute at least 75% of the total work carried out by the 
vehicle. 

• An application to renew an exemption from the display of identity 
plates must be accompanied by a copy (preferable electronic) of 
the relevant Private Hire Operator records to evidence the nature 
of the work carried out over the previous licence period. 

• Operator records must also detail evidence of contracts with 
clients which require vehicles supplied to be exempt from the 
display of identity plates. 

• A dress code commensurate with executive work is required. 
Applicants to provide details of the dress code (suit/jacket or 
equivalent) which the operator(s) for whom they work require 
them to adhere to. Dress code must be followed at all times the 
vehicle is being used to undertake a booking relating to executive 
work. 
 

3.4  Where a proprietor wishes to make an application for a vehicle to be exempt 
from displaying identification plates they will be required to complete the 
appropriate application form. The application form will be accompanied by 
documentation that supports the application and the appropriate fee shown in 
the published tariff. 

 
3.5  A notice of exemption from displaying identification plates will be granted at the 

Council’s discretion. The applicant must provide sufficient documentary 
evidence to support their application. Such evidence may include: 
a) A letter from each customer indicating: 

i) Why they require a vehicle which does not display an identity plate, 
 

b) A letter from the Private Hire Operator for who work is undertaken stating the 
vehicle registration number of the vehicle to which this application relates and 
detailing the work that will be carried out and the percentage of the work to be 
carried out. 
c) Copies of written contracts with customers. 
d) Copies of invoices 
 

Page 77



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 60 of 69 
 

3.6  The Council may require applicants to provide any additional documentation as 
reasonably necessary to allow the Council to make an informed decision. 
Where such documentation is not provided to the satisfaction of the Council the 
application will be refused. 

 
3.7  Where an application is granted and a vehicle is exempted from displaying its 

external identification plate an exemption notice will issued as soon as practical 
after the decision is made. 

 
3.8  Where a vehicle is exempted from the requirement to display an external 

identification plate the vehicle will NOT be exempted from the need to display 
the internal plate. 

 
3.9  Irrespective of when an exemption notice is granted the initial exemption notice 

will expire on the same day as the expiration of the vehicles current Private Hire 
licence, unless it is otherwise surrendered or revoked. Thereafter any renewed 
exemption notice will last for a period that is the same as that vehicle’s Private 
Hire licence unless either the licence or notice is otherwise surrendered or 
revoked. 

 
3.10  Exemption notices may be renewed annually. An application to renew the 

exemption must be accompany the vehicle renewal application form. 
 
3.11  The Authority to determine any application for an exemption notice is by virtue 

of this Policy delegated to the Lead Specialist Environment. 
 
3.12  Other than where to do so would conflict with the requirements of this Policy, 

all vehicles granted an exemption notice must, in addition to the requirements 
of this Policy, comply with the requirements for Private Hire vehicles contained 
within the Private Hire Vehicle licence conditions. 

 
3.13  The below conditions apply to all Private Hire Vehicles granted an exemption 

from displaying identification plates and are in addition to the criteria and 
general conditions applicable to all Private Hire Vehicles; 

 
a) The valid Private Hire Vehicle plates issued to the licence holder shall be 
kept within the vehicle at all times and shall be produced for inspection by an 
authorised officer of South Somerset District Council or a Police Officer upon 
request. 
b) The exemption notice shall be retained within the vehicle at all times and 
shall be produced for inspection by an authorised officer of South Somerset 
District Council or a Police Officer upon request. 
c) In the event of loss or damage rendering such plate or notice unserviceable 
the proprietor shall make immediate application for a replacement for which a 
fee is payable. 
d) The proprietor will not display in, on or from the vehicle any advertisement, 
signage, logos or insignia advertising the operating company or the vehicle’s 
status as a Private Hire vehicle. 
e) During the period of the exemption notice, the driver shall not be required to 
wear a Private Hire Driver’s identification badge but will have it available for 

Page 78



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 61 of 69 
 

immediate inspection by an authorised officer of South Somerset District 
Council  or any Police Officer on request. 
g) Failure to comply with the above terms will invalidate the exemption granted 
with immediate effect. 
 
h) These terms shall remain valid for the term of the notification unless replaced 
by a different scheme or system of identification. 
i) The exemption will cease to have effect on selling or transferring the vehicle 
to another party. The exemption notice must be returned to the Council along 
with the Private Hire vehicle identification plates unless being sold to for use as 
a Private Hire Vehicle in South Somerset District Council ; in which case, only 
the exemption notice must be returned. 
j) A taximeter will not be installed in the vehicle. 
k) During the period of exemption, the driver is required to comply with the dress 
code previously supplied to the Council. 
l) The proprietor shall notify the Council of any change in the use of the vehicle 
by the end of the following working day. 
 

3.14  The below conditions apply to all Private Hire Operators who operate vehicles 
to which an exemption from display of plates has been granted. These 
conditions are in addition to the general conditions applicable to all Private Hire 
Operators; 

 
a) Bookings taken in respect of clients who require vehicles exempt from the 
display of plates must be paid for on account. No payment can be made to the 
driver of the vehicle at time of hiring. 
b) Bookings in respect of clients who on occasion require vehicles exempt from 
the display of plates must be subdivided into to those which; 

i) Require vehicle to be exempt from display of plates 
ii) Do not require vehicles exempt from the display of plates 

Copies of records detailing the division of work to be kept for 12 months from 
period of Hire and must be provided to the Council on request. 
c) Copies of contracts with clients who require vehicles exempt from the display 
of plates must be kept for 12 months from date of commencement and provided 
to the Council on request. 
d) Dress code commensurate with executive work (suit/jacket or equivalent) to 
be in place in relation to bookings taken for vehicles exempt from the display of 
plates. Drivers of such vehicles to be required by the operator to comply with 
the dress code during the Hire period. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 79



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 62 of 69 
 

Appendix K Penalty Points Policy 
 

1. The details of how the scheme will be operated are as follows: 
 

1.1 The Licensing Authority’s Taxi Licensing and Enforcement Policy will be fully 
considered by an authorised officer when determining the manner on which any 
breach of legislation or the requirements of this Policy are dealt with.  

 

1.2 Where it is decided that the use of the Penalty Points Scheme is appropriate, 
the points will be issued in accordance with this appendix. The first time points 
are issued to an individual for a particular matter, half of the maximum points 
are usually given.   

 

1.3 The imposition of penalty points against a driver who is an employee will not 
necessarily result in the additional imposition of points to his/her employer or 
operator.  However the Licensing Authority will issue penalty points to drivers, 
proprietors, driver/proprietors and operators for a single contravention if the 
circumstances warrant it i.e. the breach is one against all these licences and it 
is considered joint responsibility is held.  

 

1.4 Points issued to a proprietor, operator or driver will be confirmed in writing within 
three weeks of the completion of enquiries into the contravention or upon 
discovery of breach.  

 

1.5 When issued, the penalty points will remain “live” for a period of one year from 
the date they are imposed so that only points accumulated in a rolling 12 
months period will be taken into account.  

 

1.6 There is no financial penalty associated with the Penalty Point Scheme, and 
the licensee may continue to work. However, the licensee may be asked to 
appear before the Licensing Sub Committee where 12 or more penalty points 
are imposed on an individual licence in any one 12 month rolling period, where 
appropriate action will be taken in accordance with this policy.  

 

1.7 Where a driver, proprietor or operator attains 12 penalty points, disciplinary 
options available to the Licensing Authority will include suspension or 
revocation of the driver’s licence.    

 

1.8 If it is felt that the matter does not warrant suspension or revocation of the 
licence, a written warning may be issued to the driver as to his future conduct.  

 

Page 80



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 63 of 69 
 

1.9 Periods of suspension of a licence will be dependent on the nature of the breach 
of legislation or the requirements of this Policy and the compliance history of 
the licence holder.  
 

 
1.10 A driver will always have the right to be represented at any meeting, either 

legally or otherwise, and to state any mitigating circumstances he deems 
necessary.  

 

1.11 Any driver or vehicle proprietor or operator subject to suspension or revocation 
has the right of appeal to the Magistrates Court against the suspension or 
revocation. In most cases a suspension will be subject to a 21 day appeal period 
starting on the date of the suspension notice to allow for the formal appeal 
process.  There might be occasions where immediate suspension is required 
e.g. danger to the public. 

  

1.12 The Penalty Points Scheme will operate without prejudice to Licensing 
Authority’s ability to take other action under appropriate legislation or as 
provided for by this policy.  

 

1.13 The Penalty Points Scheme outlined below identifies a number of breaches of 
conditions, byelaws and/or statutory provisions. It then indicates the number of 
points to be invoked should the breach be proven.   

 

2. Penalty Points Tariff  
 

2.1 Legislative offences and penalties: 
 

 Two statues principally create offences relating to hackney carriages and 
private hire vehicles – 

 

i) Town Police Clauses Act 1847 

ii) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

 

2.2 The offences are set out below under the relevant statute: 
 

Any subsequent amendments to the legislation will supersede the tables below and 
this appendix may be amended to reflect the revised legislation by way of an 
addendum to this policy. 

Town and Police Clauses Act 1847 

Page 81



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 64 of 69 
 

 

List 
No. 

 

Section 

 

Offence 

Max 

Penalty 
Points 

Operator  Proprietor  Driver  

1.  
40 Giving false information on a hackney carriage 

licence application. 12  � � 

2.  
44 Failure to notify change of address on a hackney 

carriage licence. 6  � � 

3.  
45 Plying for hire without a hackney carriage licence. prosecut

e - - - 

4.  
47 Driving a hackney carriage without a hackney 

carriage driver’s licence. 
prosecut
e - - - 

5.  
47 Lending or parting with a hackney carriage driver’s 

licence. 12   � 

6.  

47 Hackney carriage proprietor permitting or 
employing an unlicensed driver to drive a hackney 
carriage vehicle. 

12 or 

prosecut
e 

 � � 

7.  
48 Failure of a proprietor to retain in his/her 

possession copies of any hackney carriage driver’s 
licence that  permits them to drive their vehicle. 

6  �  

8.  

48 Failure of a proprietor to produce on request by an 
authorised officer any hackney carriage driver’s 
licence for whom he has permitted to drive his/her 
vehicle. 

6  �  

9.  52 Failure to display a hackney carriage plate. 12   � 

10.  53 Refusal to take a fare without a reasonable excuse. 8   � 

11.  54/55 Charging more than the agreed/legal fare. 12   � 

12.  
56 Travelling less than the lawful distance for an 

agreed fare. 12   � 

13.  57 Failure to wait after a deposit to wait has been paid. 12   � 

14.  
59 Carrying persons other than with the consent of the 

hirer. 12   � 

15.  
60 Driving/allowing a hackney carriage without the 

proprietor’s consent. 12   � 

16.  

62 Driver leaving a hackney carriage unattended on a 
rank 

 
12   � 

17.  
64 Hackney carriage driver obstructing other hackney 

carriages. 12   � 

Page 82



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 65 of 69 
 

 

List 
No. 

 

Section 

 

Offence 

Max 

Penalty 
Points 

Operator  Proprietor  Driver  

 

 

 

 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

 

Lis
t 
No
. 

 

Sectio
n 

 

Offence 

Max 

Penalty 
Points 

Operat
or  

Propriet
or  

Driv
er  

18.  
46 

(1)(A) 

A licensed driver using an unlicensed vehicle for 
private hire purposes. 12   � 

19.  
46 

(1)(b) 

Driving a private hire vehicle without a private hire 
driver’s licence. 

prosecut
e - - - 

20.  
46 

(1)(c) 

Proprietor of a private hire vehicle permitting or 
employing an unlicensed driver to drive a private 
hire vehicle. 

12  �  

21.  
46 

(1)(d) 

Operating a private hire vehicle without a private 
hire operators’ licence. 

prosecut
e - - - 

22.  

46 

(1)(e) 

Operating an unlicensed vehicle as a private hire 
vehicle. 

 
12 � � � 

23.  
46 

(1)(e) 

Operating a private hire vehicle when the driver is 
not licensed as a private hire driver. 12 � � � 

24.  48 (6) Failure to display a private hire vehicle plate. 12  � � 

25.  49 Failure to notify the transfer of a vehicle licence. 6  �  

26.  
50 (1) Failure to present a hackney carriage or private 

hire vehicle for inspection upon request. 12  � � 

27.  
50 (2) Failure to inform the Licensing Authority where a 

hackney carriage or private hire vehicle is stored, 
if requested. 

6  �  

28.  
50 (3) Failure to report an accident to the Licensing 

Authority within seventy two hours. 12  � � 

Page 83



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 66 of 69 
 

29.  
50 (4) Failure to produce the vehicle and/or insurance 

upon request. 6  � � 

30.  53 (3) Failure to produce a driver’s licence upon request. 12   � 

31.  
54 (2) Failure to wear a private hire driver’s/hackney 

carriage driver’s badge. 12   � 

32.  

56 (2) Failure of a private hire operator to keep proper 
records of all bookings, driver and vehicle licences 
or failure to produce them upon request of an 
authorised officer of the Licensing Authority or a 
police officer within reasonable time / or time 
specified. 

12 �   

33.  
56 (4) Failure of a private hire operator to produce his 

licence upon request. 6 �   

34.  
57 Making a false statement or withholding 

information to obtain a hackney carriage private 
hire driver’s licence. 

12   � 

35.  
58 (2) Failure to return a plate after notice has been given 

following expiry, revocation, or suspension of a 
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence. 

12  �  

36.  
61 (2) Failure to surrender a driver’s licence or badge on 

or after suspension, revocation, or refusal to 
renew. 

12 or 
prosecut
e 

- - - 

37.  
64 Permitting a private hire vehicle to wait on a 

hackney carriage rank. 12   � 

38.  
69 Unnecessarily prolonging a journey. 

 
12   � 

39.  
73 

(1)(a) 

Obstruction of an authorised officer of the 
Licensing Authority or a police officer. 12 � � � 

40.  
73 

(1)(b) 

Failure to comply with a requirement of an 
authorised officer of the Licensing Authority or a 
police officer. 

12 � � � 

41.  
73 

(1)(c) 

Failure to give information or assistance to an 
authorised officer of the Licensing Authority or 
police officer. 

12 � � � 

 

LICENSING AUTHORITY POLICY  

 

Lis
t 

 

Sectio
n 

 

Offence 

Max 

Penalty 
Points 

Operat
or  

Propriet
or  

Driv
er  

Page 84



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 67 of 69 
 

No
. 

42.  N/A Failure to adhere to the Code of Good Conduct for 
Licensed Drivers where not mentioned below. 6   � 

43.  N/A Failure to ensure the safety of passengers. 12 � � � 

44.  N/A Concealing or defacing a vehicle licence plate. 12 � � � 

45.  N/A 
Failure to attend on time for a pre-arranged  

Appointment at the request of the Licensing 
Authority for interview without reasonable cause. 

12 � � � 

46.  N/A Conveying a greater number of passengers than 
permitted. 12   � 

47.  N/A Failure to give reasonable assistance with 
passenger’s luggage. 3   � 

48.  N/A Private hire soliciting for hire or accepting a fare 
that is not pre-booked. 6   � 

49.  N/A Operating/using a vehicle that is not clean and tidy 
internally or externally. 3  � � 

50.  N/A Operating/using a vehicle that is not in a safe 
condition internally or externally. 12  � � 

51.  N/A Driving without the consent of the proprietor. 12   � 

52.  N/A Drinking or eating in the vehicle whilst carrying 
passengers. 6   � 

53.  N/A 
Smoking or using e-cigarettes or vape in the 
vehicle at any time. 

 
12   � 

54.  N/A Causing excessive noise from any radio or sound-
reproducing equipment. 4   � 

55.  N/A Sounding the horn to signal that the vehicle has 
arrived. disturbing residents  6   � 

56.  N/A 
Allowing a private hire vehicle to stand in such a 
position as to suggest that it is plying for hire or 
using a hackney carriage stand. 

12   � 

57.  N/A 
Allowing a hackney carriage vehicle to stand in a 
position, not being a hackney carriage stand, to 
suggest that is plying for hire. 

12   � 

58.  N/A Using a non-hands free mobile telephone whilst 
driving. 12   � 

59.  N/A Failure to advise of a medical condition. 12   � 

Page 85



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 68 of 69 
 

 

60.  N/A Failure to provide a receipt for a fare when 
requested. 6   � 

61.  N/A Failure to operate the meter from the 
commencement of the journey  12   � 

62.  N/A 
Failure to notify the Licensing Authority of relevant 
change to licence details within the time specified 
in the associated licence conditions. 

12 � � � 

63.  N/A Failure to produce a hackney carriage or private 
hire licence (driver or vehicle) upon request. 12 � � � 

64.  N/A 
Failure to show a private hire driver’s licence to the 
private hire operator at the commencement of 
employment. 

4   � 

65.  N/A 
Failure of a licence holder to disclose 
convictions/caution within seven days of 
conviction/caution. 

12 � � � 

66.  N/A 
Carrying any animal other than a guide, hearing or 
other prescribed assistance dog or those owned by 
bone-fide fare paying passengers. 

6   � 

67.  N/A 
Failure to search a vehicle after a journey or failure 
to take found property to the police within forty 
eight hours of finding. 

12   � 

68.  N/A Failure to comply with requirements for the safe 
carrying of a wheelchair  12  � � 

69.  N/A 

Operating a vehicle that does not comply with the 
Licensing Authority’s licensing policy or relevant  
legislation where such a breach of 
policy/legislation is not otherwise specified herein. 

12  � � 

70.  N/A 
Failure to carry an approved fire extinguisher. 

 
6  � � 

71.  N/A Failure to carry a first aid kit for personal use that 
has been approved by the Licensing Authority. 6  � � 

72.  N/A Modifying a licensed vehicle without the consent of 
the Licensing Authority. 12  � � 

73.  N/A 
Affixing or displaying a roof sign on a private hire 
vehicle. 

 
12  � � 

74.  N/A Using a taxi-meter that does not conform to 
Licensing Authority requirements. 12 � � � 

Page 86



Appendix A 

Appendix A, Page 69 of 69 
 

75.  N/A 
Driving with no insurance or inadequate insurance 
for the vehicle. 

12 or 
prosecut
e 

 � � 

76.  N/A Permitting the vehicle to be used for any illegal or 
immoral purposes. 12 � � � 

77.  N/A 
Failure of a private hire operator to ensure that 
office staff act in a civil and courteous manner at 
all times. 

6 �   

78.  N/A 
Failure of a private hire operator to obtain public 
liability insurance for the operating premises if the 
public are allowed access. 

6 �   

79.  N/A Failure to comply with any licensing condition 
(vehicle or driver) 12 � � � 

80.   Verbal aggression / Abuse of council employees / 
public while on duty  12 � � � 

81.   Failure to prepare vehicle for pre-booked 
inspection (Lufton test). 12 � � � 

82.   Failure to attend a pre-booked vehicle inspection 
without giving 24 hours notice of cancellation.  12 � �  

 

 

Where a breach is proven that is a combination of any of the above offences, the 
option to allocate points for each of the offences can be utilised by any authorised 
licensing officer. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 89

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 97

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	 Public Guidance Notes contained in Agenda Annexe
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Procedure to be followed when considering Licensing of Hackney Carriage Private Hire Drivers, Vehicles, Operators and related enforcement
	4 Application for a private hire vehicle licence
	PH vehicle report Appendix A SSDC Policy
	1.0 Introduction and Foreword
	Aims of the Policy
	Legislation and Guidance
	Consultation
	General Principles
	Common Law Police Disclosure
	Fit and Proper Person
	Fit and proper person test
	Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicle fit and proper person Test
	Private Hire Operator fit and proper person test

	Departure from Policy
	Review of Licences
	Review of Policy

	2.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Requirements
	Age requirements for drivers
	Authorisation to drive a Motor Car
	Passport Photos
	Knowledge Test
	Medical Examination and Driver Health
	Frequency of Medical Testing
	Medical exemptions
	Driving Assessment
	Safeguarding of children and vulnerable individuals
	Language proficiency
	Criminal Convictions
	Certificate of Good Conduct
	Declaration of criminal and motoring convictions
	Right to work checks
	Term and Duration of Driver Licences
	Expiry of drivers Licences and renewals
	Late renewal of drivers licences
	Changes of name / address / personal contact information
	Criminal Convictions and Motoring Offences Policy
	Motoring Offences
	Disability Awareness
	Conditions of Driver’s Licences
	Private Hire vehicle drivers
	Hackney carriage drivers
	Taximeters, fares, and fare cards



	3.0 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles
	Limitation on the number of Hackney Carriage Vehicles
	Basic Disclosure
	Conditions
	Inspection of Vehicles
	MOT
	Insurance
	Environmental vehicle standards
	Term and Duration of Vehicle Licences
	Public Liability Insurance
	Vehicle Testing
	V5 Documentation
	Bill of Sale
	Roof Signs
	Vehicle Licence Plates
	Wheelchair Access
	Taxi Ranks
	Accidents / Collisions and Temporary Vehicle Plates
	Selling a Vehicle / Transfer of ownership
	Advertising
	Dual Licensing of Vehicles
	Out of Area Working
	CCTV in vehicles
	Vehicle Enforcement

	4.0 Private Hire Operators
	Duration of Private Hire Operators Licences
	Basic Criminal Record Check for Private Hire Operators
	Conditions
	Plate Exemption

	5.0 General Arrangements
	Licence Applications
	Delegation of Functions
	Training Decision Makers
	Penalty Point Scheme
	Whistleblowing
	Complaints
	Fixing of Hackney Carriage Fares
	Un-notified inspections (all licence holders)
	Suspensions, Revocations & Refusals
	Appeals against Suspensions, Revocations & Refusals

	Appendix A Knowledge Test Policy
	Appendix B Criminal and Motoring Convictions Policy
	Appendix C Standard conditions for private hire drivers
	Appendix D Hackney Carriage Byelaws
	Appendix E Requirements for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles
	Appendix F Standard conditions for hackney carriage vehicles
	Appendix G Standard conditions for private hire vehicles
	Appendix H CCTV systems
	Appendix I Private Hire Operator Conditions
	Appendix J Exemption from requirement to display Vehicle Identification.
	Appendix K Penalty Points Policy

	PH vehicle report Appendix B
	PH vehicle report Appendix C


